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NABFOUNDATION

Corporate Identification
Number

U85100MH2019NPL330036

Date of incorporation

31/08/2019
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713 Damji Shamji Business Galleria,
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Kanjurmarg G West,
Mumbai 400078
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Fortune 2000, Ground Floor,
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Bandra East, Mumbai 400051
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Bandra East, Mumbai 400051
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Telephone No.

+91 22 2653 9054

2. Board of Directors (as on 31st March 2021)

CHAIRMAN

Dr. G R Chintala, Chairman,
NABARD and NABFOUNDATION
Dr. G R Chintala is the Chairman of National Bank for
Agriculture and Rural Development (NABARD), India’s Apex
Development Financial Institution of the country. A Post Graduate
in Seed Science and Technology from the world renowned Indian
Agricultural Research Institute (IARI), New Delhi, Dr. Chintala has
had a phenomenal journey in the development sector; a journey
which has seen him taking up multiple prestigious assignments in
Andhra Pradesh, Punjab, Uttar Pradesh, Karnataka, Andaman &
Nicobar Islands and of course in New Delhi where he represented
NABARD in front of the Government of India.
During this illustrious career of 35 years, he has several
achievements to his credit. Prior to taking over as Chairman, Dr.
Chintala was the Managing Director of NABARD Financial Services
(NABFINS) Ltd., the microfinance lending subsidiary of NABARD.
He was also the Director of Bankers Institute of Rural Development
(BIRD), Lucknow, one of the premier institutes of the developing
world which offers training, research and consultancy services
in the field of agriculture and rural development banking. A live
wire speaker, he has, in his capacity as a Faculty Member of BIRD,
trained several hundreds of professionals from banking and NGO
sectors.
Working closely with various State Governments and banks
at the highest level, his contribution has been immense in varied
sectors like credit planning and monitoring, funding for rural
infrastructure and implementation of innovative and pioneering
projects across the nation. Among his many achievements, the
role played by Dr. Chintala in the field of social and economic
empowerment of rural women through financial inclusion merits a
special mention.
Dr. Chintala brings to NABFOUNDATON, a vast body of
experience with inner positivity.
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Jitendra Kalra, Director

A. K. Mohanty, Director

Shri Jitendra

Shri A K Mohanty,

Kalra, B. Tech and

with a varied academic

MBA, comes with a

background of B.Sc.,

deep understanding

MBA and CAIIB has got

and experience of

over 35 years of rich
and varied experience

development sector.
Starting out as a Civil Servant in 1991, Shri

in National Bank for Agriculture and Rural

Kalra quickly realized his inner connect with

Development (NABARD). Over the years Shri

the development sector. His journey since

Mohanty has worked in domains like policy

then has seen him taking senior leadership

formulation for Farm Sector, Production Credit,

roles in UNIDO, Dr. Reddy’s Foundation and

Institutional Development, Off Farm Sector,

Reliance Foundation, two of India’s largest CSR

Resource Mobilization, Supervision of Rural

Foundations. His work has made a remarkable

Financial Institutions and Business Initiatives.

difference in areas like Rural Transformation,
Health, Information services and Disaster
management, Livelihood Promotion and Poverty
Reduction. During his seven years’ tenure with
UNIDO, he pioneered the ‘cluster development’
approach in India. As Programme Head, he led
a team responsible for implementing ‘Cluster
Development Program’ in Orissa, Andhra
Pradesh and Karnataka for development of
clusters in Auto component, Machine tool,
Foundry cluster, Floriculture etc to promote
livelihoods.
Shri Kalra is a sought-after public speaker
on subjects like skilling, cluster development,
cultural transformation, rural development,
Not-for-Profit engagement with Govt, policy
advocacy, corporate CSR and Ethics & Values.
Shri Kalra is currently CEO of Foundation
for Economic Development (FED) which is
working directly with state governments with a
focus on building capacities to think through
and execute reforms. FED helps in designing
and running development projects in a more
professional manner by incorporating the best of
management and social audit practices.

6

He has been a Faculty Member and Joint
Director in prestigious national level training
institutes of NABARD besides heading the New
Delhi Regional Office of NABARD for three
years where his major responsibilities included
coordination between related Ministries in Govt.
of India as well as other stakeholders on the
one hand and Head Office/ Regional Offices of
NABARD on the other on all corporate matters.
Shri Mohanty currently heads the critical
State Projects Department at Head Office
of NABARD which looks into all policy and
operational matters related to infrastructure
financing in State/ UT Govts for rural
infrastructure projects.

Sanjeev Dhamija, Director

Shri Sanjeev

Nirupam Mehrotra, Director

Shri. Mehrotra, MA

Dhamija, 58, is a

(Economics) and M.Phil

seasoned development

form Jawaharlal Nehru

professional with over

University has been a key

30 years of experience

member of the group

in banking and

within NABARD which

development sectors. He holds a Bachelors’

analyses macro-economic changes in the rural

Degree in Commerce (Honours) from University

economy and their impact upon NABARD.

of Delhi and Post Graduate Diploma in
Management from AIMA, New Delhi. He also
holds a Post Graduate Diploma in Information
Technology and is a Certified Associate of the
Indian Institute of Bankers, Mumbai.
In his professional career spanning over 32

Shri. Mehrotra was an active participant
in the deliberations of the GOI’s Expert Group
on Agricultural Indebtedness and assisted in
drafting of the final report. He provided inputs
to the report submitted by the Task Force on
Credit Related Issues of Farmers, constituted by

years in NABARD, he has worked in different

the Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India,

positions across various Regional Offices

2010. He also participated in the Deliberations of

of the Bank in developmental, supervisory

the “Sub-Group of the Committee Constituted

and finance related functions such as, State

by Reserve Bank of India to Re-Examine the

Infrastructure Projects, Natural Resource

Existing Classification and Suggest Revised

Management, Business Initiatives, HR, Production

Guidelines with Regard to Priority Sector Lending

and Developmental Credit, Finance, Audit, RFI

Classification and Related Issues, 2012”.

supervision and Institutional Development.
Shri Dhamija is currently CGM-in-charge

His past responsibilities have included
undertaking impact evaluation studies,

of Finance Department as also Department

understanding the practical challenges in

of Subsidiaries and Strategic Investments of

strengthening supply chain for high value

NABARD at its Head Office in Mumbai.

agriculture, quantifying the direct and indirect
benefits of investments in rural infrastructure.

7
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Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO

Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla joined NABARD
in 1992 after doing his post-graduation
in Economics from Punjab University,
Chandigarh.

He

has

handled

key

assignments in multiple departments
over the last two decades in Jammu
and Kashmir, Gujarat, Maharashtra and Meghalaya.
He has been a part of multiple teams within NABARD covering
fund raising, HR, credit operations, financial inclusion technology,
credit planning and corporate communications. He was a part of the
key team which launched NABARD Capital Gains Bond Issue. He was
also a key member of the team which launched the first ever Aadhar
enabled Kisan Credit Cards to Cooperative Banks and RRBs. As a
part of the Communications Wing of NABARD, he helped establish
the communication protocol in the organization along with a new
website and social media handles. His team was also instrumental in
producing over 100 short films about NABARD projects besides several
award winning publications.
Over the last nearly three decades, he has been a part of multiple
studies. Micro finance, credit planning, designing of innovative
convergence models and organizational communication continue to
be his areas of deep interest.
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3. Chairman’s Foreword

10

The present generation of post WWII had never

But humanity started fighting back and there

experienced the calamities of this magnitude the

were a lot of positive developments too. The vaccines

present pandemic has thrown. As the last pandemic

were rolled out in record time. The public and private

was a century old and protocols and SOPs were

sector joined hands to come up with innovative

forgotten, the corona virus wreaked havoc which is

solutions which softened the economic burden to

unprecedented as many nations were unprepared.

the state. The virus made us all aware of the need for

For us in the development sector, these developments

basic hygiene at a national level, a key aspiration of

quite clearly threw a lot of challenges. It will not be

our Hon’ble Prime Minister, Shri Narendra Modi.

an overstatement to say that we were forced to re-

Our search for immunity enhancing drugs

think the entire socio-economic development policy

brought us closer to the need for exploring natural

framework.

and traditional systems and shifting towards clean,

Going ahead, we will see
a stronger and equitable
nation, more empowered to
handle such calamities.

fresh and organic vegetables, herbs and fruits is one

The year under reporting was a challenging one

such case. This health revolution and the increased

for NABFOUNDATION in terms of reduced mobility but

demand is pushing India closer towards organic

within these very challenges, it managed to take up

cultivation of fruits and vegetables. This increase in

multiple projects across the country. The Foundation

demand for organic produce will directly benefit

is undaunted and raring to explore new areas and an

large number of farming communities mostly in the

array of new projects are also lined up for the coming

remote and dispersed geographies. Needless to say,

year. I wish the team to come out with flying colours

this will also have a well-rounded impact on the flow

in their projects.

of credit, credit absorption and the much-needed

I thank all the luminaries who have spared

capital investment in the Indian agri sector especially

valuable time to share their thoughts in this year’s

in these areas. Going ahead, we will see a stronger

Annual Report of NABFOUNDATION and made it so

and equitable nation, more empowered to handle

rich with their inputs. These reminiscences will help

such calamities.

scores of other organizations to learn and experiment.

Reverse migration, the off-shoot of pandemic

I wish all the development practitioners and their

crisis, made us go closer to Mahatma Gandhi’s

supporting agencies all the very best in their pursuit

belief that India will develop only when we evolve

of building a healthy, happy and equitable nation.

into thousands of village-based economies. I do
hope that the experience during the just concluded
year will galvanize all stakeholders to work towards

Dr. G R Chintala
Chairman
NABARD and NABFOUNDATION

making that dream come true.
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4. From the CEO’s desk

I would have gladly defined the year 2020-21 as

fisheries sectors is vindication enough of the medium-

was going to be a year with no more ugly surprises.

and long-term impacts which await Indian farmers

The year had everything going wrong from the word

through these reforms. Is it Indian agriculture’s 1991

go. The slow and steady spread of pandemic into

moment? Only time will tell but agricultural market

the hinterlands, collapse of health infrastructure, new

reforms have been overdue for decades.

variants of the virus baffling virologists across the world,

The year 2020-21 was particularly challenging

reverse migration, storms, unseasonal rains, farmer

for us with impaired mobility emerging as a huge

protests- This was indeed a black swan year, only

limitation. The year however saw the Foundation

‘black’ does not fully encapsulate the darkness.

establishing itself as a significant player in the

And yet in this darkness, we saw some amazing

development space. We managed to acquire 12A and

lights of brilliance. The role of civil society and civil

80G certifications from ITO which completed the circle

society organizations, the speed with which the

of required documentation within the Foundation. The

corporate sector diverted ‘industrial’ oxygen to

certificates made NABFOUNDATION eligible to receive

hospitals and the movement of CSR into Covid relief

funds from individuals and other corporates to take up

was uplifting to put in a word.

developmental activities in agriculture and rural sector.

Agriculture (representing over 50% of this nation)

On the project front I am happy to share with you

saw some brilliant performance on the agri front.

that we managed to make significant progress in four

Record production levels, record procurements,

projects which were initiated by NABFOUNDATION

higher MSPs (and never mind the critics about the

during the year inspite of the multiple challenges.

reasons behind it!) and the cementing of DBT system

MY PAD | MY RIGHT which is the first ever attempt

for MSP payouts into the accounts were the glorious

(with pan-India vision) to bring livelihoods into the

moments of this country last year. Our balance of

menstrual hygiene sector got off to a great start with

trade increased inspite of Covid. During the April 2020-

a launch in the presence of Union Minister Ms. Smriti

February 2021 period it went upto Rs 1. 32 lakh crores

Irani and our Chairman. Under Phase I of the project,

as against Rs 93,907 crore during the same period in

machines were installed successfully in 28 districts of

2019-20.

in the country. MoUs have been signed with SBI and

The agri reforms brought out in May 2020 may

Bank of India under which SHGs having their accounts

have had opposition from a small segment of farmers

in these banks will be able to easily avail collateral free

but they present an amazing opportunity for Indian

working capital support for the project. All claims are

agriculture. These reforms were long pending (under

settled through an online portal in our website.

discussion since 2003!) and define an important

12

and agricultural markets. A look at poultry, dairy and

annus horibilis had there been a surety that 2021-22

We moved ahead in taking up ground level

moment for Indian agriculture. After all, economic

work relating to Project NEW (North East Region

liberalization which started with financial reforms had

Entrepreneurs’ World) which is the first ever attempt

bypassed over half the nation comprising farmers

to map skill gaps of youths in North East Region on a

During the April 2020February 2021 period it
went upto Rs 1.32 lakh
crores as against
Rs 93,907 crore during the
same period in 2019-20.

MY PAD | MY RIGHT
which is the first ever
attempt with pan-India
vision

real time basis. The project will see creation of a web

thus, at its very heart, is a livelihood project. It may be

portal along with a smart app which will be used by

one single unit at the moment but the sheer potential

youths to upload data about themselves along with

of replicating the model makes it a hugely promising

their aspirations. This data will be collated as state/

project.

district/block wise lists and shared with all stakeholders

What made all this possible in this difficult year was

in North East. In the second phase, efforts will be

the solid support we got from our Chairman and the

made to organize ‘precision skilling modules’ in select

Board members in each of our initiatives. At the field

geographies. NABCONS, NABFINS, NABSAMRUDDHI

level, our amazing District Development Managers,

and Dalmia Bharat Foundation (DBF) stepped forward

NABARD staff members and NGO partners managed

to support this unique and tech savvy initiative.

to pull out surprises in the form of successfully executed

NABFOUNDATION’s effort to set up Meghalaya

projects against all odds. The donor agencies, Dalmia

Hills Broom Farmers Producers Organization (MHBFPO)

Foundation and NABARD subsidiaries supported us

moved ahead with first stage approvals at the regional

in our projects filling us with hope and belief. This

office level. Through this project, an Off-Farm Producers

cumulative support and warmth smoothened the

Organization will be established and equipped with

edges of an otherwise difficult year.

required skills to store, market and convert broom-grass

The coming year will see NABAFOUNDATION

into broomsticks to facilitate market-linkages. The

taking up new projects in Kerala, Rajasthan and

project is fully funded by NABARD.

Ladakh. Alongside, a few pan India projects are also

NABFOUNDATION partnered with BAKDIL, an

in the development stage. The only way ahead in a

NGO working in Garo Hills in Meghalaya, to establish

crisis they say is to see the crisis as an opportunity. And I

a residential training facility for farmers in the areas

guess that holds good for all – individuals, organizations

of agriculture, horticulture, livestock rearing, animal

and nations. Here is looking forward to the next year

husbandry, forest products, dairy, piggery and poultry

with hope and self-belief!

units etc. The project has been partly supported by
our subsidiaries, NABCONS and NABKISAN. The results
were immediately visible with FPOs trained in the
facility ready to sell their goods within and outside

Sanjeev Dalip Singh Rohilla
CEO, NABFOUNDATION

Meghalaya.
In another technology driven initiative,
NABFOUNDATION partnered with G.R.I.D to set up
a solar power-based RO unit for providing clean
drinking water in one of the worst affected villages
of the dry district of Jodhpur. The unit will be owned
and operated by women members of an SHG and

13
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5. Overview of Development Ecosystem of India
(2020-21)
Overview of
development
ecosystem: 2020-21
With the increasing outreach

Realisation that
healthcare is of
utmost importance!
Healthcare took the center

of the virus into rural India, it

stage as the pandemic played a

seemed that there was going

key role in underlining inextricable

to be no end to the spreading

linkages between health and

of COVID-19 in the near future.

nutrition on one hand and socio-

No one was left untouched by

economic development on the

the sheer fury of the pandemic.

other. Recommendations were

The unprecedented challenges

made for increasing the public

brought by COVID prompted many

healthcare spending from 1% to

companies to deploy their CSR

2.5-3% of GDP to decrease the

funds in addressing the immediate

out-of-pocket expenditure from

needs of communities and the

65% to 35% of overall healthcare

society at large. This impacted

spending. In the economic

the project planning process in

survey for 2020-21, it was revealed

Foundations, NGOs, and donor

that overall welfare could be

agencies which, in turn, quite

enhanced through information

predictably, had a cascading

utilities that help in the mitigation of

impact on funds allocated for

information asymmetry. Apart from

other development projects across

this, telemedicine was identified

the country. This situation also

as a key area of investment for

highlighted the need to re-calibrate

effectively countering situations

policy and bring in health and

surfacing due to the Covid-19

hygiene into development projects.

pandemic.

The pandemic left us struggling with
the healthcare systems gasping to
meet critical gaps in services.

Significant Role of
Vaccines
With the impending health
crisis came the realization that the
only effective way to safeguard
the economy from another
massive disruption was to relax
both demand and supply for
vaccines. As of April 2021, more
than 10 crore shots of vaccine had
been administered in the country.
However, the same accounted for
only 8% of the country’s population
that had received at least one shot.
In contrast, during the same period,
developed countries like the USA
and the UK had, vaccinated close
to 50% of their total population.
Like in every other sphere, finally, in
this in situation also, it did boil down
to the economic status of individual
nations.
Within India the situation
in rural India demanded more
attention. According to K. Srinath
Reddy, President of the Public
Health Foundation of India- “The
challenge will be mostly in small
towns and rural areas, both in
terms of having the health system
capacity to deliver and also in

16

overcoming vaccine hesitancy
and creating a demand.” A recent
report by SBI Research pointed out
that between March-May 2021,
the percentage of rural districts
with Covid-19 cases across India

Technology
“VIRTUALLY”
distinguishing
between the ‘haves’
and the ‘have nots’

surged from 36.8% to 48.5%. The
government increased the reach

The year 2020 brought us

of the vaccines and ensured that

inseparably closer to technology.

the eligibility criteria for vaccination

This created sustainable ways of

became more expansive. Besides,

interacting – right from emails to

amendments in the CSR rules

online meetings where the ‘actual’

were made to enable companies

replaced ‘virtual’. Every domain,

to engage in research and

from education to entertainment,

development (R&D) activities for

from financial transactions to

new vaccines, drugs, and medical

simple meetings, showed the

devices.

new order of things and brought

Herein it was noted that,

us closer to environmental

a technical shift focusing on

sustainability. Organizations pivoted

de-centralized and innovative

to selling online, students moved

healthcare will certainly bring some

to e-learning models overnight,

respite. For example - drones in

industries engaged via webinars

Africa are sending medical supplies

instead of events, development

to rural areas, which could be a

institutions conducted virtual

boon in India where healthcare is

COVID awareness training in

inaccessible to villagers. Moreover,

rural India and interns and new

like in urban areas, a mere shift

employees were on-boarded onto

from the traditional consulting room

global teams digitally. Essentially, all

to the virtual consultation space will

organizations reoriented themselves

indeed be a path-breaking journey

and embraced new digital systems

in rural India.

and processes.

Ed-tech becoming a
game-changer
The traditional face-to-face
interaction between the teacher
and students suffered a setback
and almost instantaneously, there
was a shift to the unconventional
mode of online learning. While
e-commerce took several years
to pick momentum in India and
billions of dollars to change
consumer behavior, this occurred
almost overnight for the edtech sector. The pandemic also
accelerated the adoption of
digital education with the indefinite
closure of educational institutes
across the world. With prolonged
lockdowns, people had little choice
but to adapt and move their
activities online.
As per a joint report by BARC
India and Nielsen, there was a
30% increase in the screen time
on education applications on
smartphones since the lockdown.
Since the lockdown, Byju’s added
over 33 million users to its platform
to touch the 75 million mark, while
Unacademy’s user base tripled to
40 million users by January 2021.
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Ed-tech in rural India
COVID-19 also widened
the gap between the ‘haves’
and the ‘have-nots’ in the field
of education. According to the
Annual State Education Report
survey, two-thirds of rural children in
India reported they did not receive
learning materials or activities at all
during the period of the pandemic.
The international slump in trade,
imports of tablets etc also proved
to be a hindrance in the efforts of
the common man to on-board the
digital education drive.
To lessen this inequality for rural
communities otherwise distanced
by geographical and financial
barriers, several grassroots CSR
initiatives were taken up which
comprised of a combination of
digital networks and technologies
which used AI- skilling and
telemedicine to lessen this ruralurban divide. The government got
into an over drive to ensure that
corrective and timely action was
taken to minimize the pain.

Agriculture: The silver
lining
Under the Pradhan Mantri
Garib Kalyan Anna Yojana, 80.96
crore beneficiaries were provided
food grains higher than the
NFSA mandated requirement,
free of cost till November 2020.
The migrants were particularly
given consideration through the
Aatma Nirbhar Bharat Package
with 5 kgs of food grains being
provided per person per month
for four months (May to August
2020) to approximately 8 crores
migrants. The valiant efforts made
by the Government of India in this
direction were appreciated all over
the world.
The economic survey
indicated that agriculture remained
the silver lining throughout the
pandemic and showed immense
resilience amid the adversities of
COVID-19 induced lockdowns.
Record procurement by FCI and
rising exports were a proof of the
growth parameters in agri sector.
Economic analysis and predictions
have stated agriculture to cushion
the shock of the pandemic on the
Indian economy in FY21 with a
growth of 3.4%.

Ag-tech:
Paradigm shift to
unconventional
modes
The pandemic gave a new
meaning to “necessity is the
mother of invention”. It left no
choice for agri-based enterprises
but to innovate and optimally
utilize available resources and
infrastructure. Quite like the ITC
used ‘E-Chaupal’ platform (for
procuring agri-commodities),
Government launched ‘Kisan
Rath’ app to support farmers and
transporters in locating each other.
While some agri start-ups delivered
fresh vegetables and fruits, the
Future Group optimally utilized its
already existing supply chain during
these tough times. In recent times,
adopting aeroponics as a farming
method has also gained steam, as
it allows the earth to recuperate
and regenerate its nutritional and
mineral properties. Through these
advanced ag-tech startups, there
has been a culmination of many
successful market linkages for
remotely located farmers. Reports
also corroborate that farmers have
received Rs. 75,000 crores by selling
wheat, boosting the local economy
in rural areas1. This validates that
market linkages have, to some

1
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extent, helped in keeping the
farmers afloat during the crisis.
Startups are now focusing on
innovative market linkages, use of
AI and machine learning in farming
practices and IoT implementation
across the supply chain. Addressing
a vastly underserved market of
farmers in India, Agritech startup
Arya Collateral is enabling the
distressed farmer community to
store their produce safely and
access financial assistance for
cash-flow management.
This tech-based boost is also
reflected in our Prime Minister Shri.
Narendra Modi inaugurating a fiveday global virtual meet to facilitate
the exchange of ideas on the use
of AI for social transformation,
empowerment, and inclusion
in areas such as healthcare,
agriculture, education, and smart
mobility. During the course of the
summit, he highlighted that AI will
unlock the potential of each person
and empower them to contribute
more effectively to society.

Unique, innovative
initiatives and
collaborations
The COVID-19 pandemic has
underscored the importance of
focus and making fast decisions,
forging strong partnerships with
communities and NGOs, and of
leveraging corporate assets to help
communities. For example, Mphasis
leveraged its technical know-how
and partnered with Uber to launch
Uber Assist and Uber Access as part
of its CSR initiative. The services
provide retro-fitted vehicles to
help Persons with Disabilities travel
in Bangalore. Some companies
even performed CSR by promoting
social awareness for social
distancing: Notably, McDonalds
sent a message by bifurcating its
‘M’ logo into ‘n – n’ to represent
social distance. Similarly, Audi
separated the four rings in its logo
and explored a tagline to keep
distance.
The economy is rapidly
evolving and changing. Innovation
has taken center stage; become
omnipresent; new models of
partnerships are emerging;
governments are actively reaching
out to engage with businesses to
deliver solutions to development
challenges.

In order to create channels
for pan-India projects where
maximum impact would be
possible, a welcome step has
been the proposal for a ‘Social
Stock Exchange’ by the Securities
& Exchange Board of India. The
SSE will allow for more efficient
deployment of CSR funding,
verification of project impact,
and trading of excess/deficient
CSR spends between companies.
It is a known fact that social
enterprises have the potential
to make a significant impact on
Indian society and economy, but
struggle to find sustained funding.
Social stock exchanges can help
bridge this funding gap and create
an investment ecosystem for such
enterprises.
Such innovative solutions
are being encouraged in an
environment in which policymakers and other stakeholders can
come together collaboratively.
The entire Indian innovation ecosystem rose to the challenge, with
all stakeholders, including public
and private laboratories, startups,
funding agencies, and government
bodies nimbly pivoting their
strategies and operations to meet
the COVID-19 threat head-on.
Alongside, efforts were made
during the second wave to solve
problems at scale by organizations,
collaborations, and public-private
partnerships. The post-pandemic
world will hopefully bring a new
era of public-private sector
collaboration.
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Financial and social inclusion as driving factors
Financial and social inclusion were among the main driving factors in 2021 for stimulating the overall
economic progress of developing nations. One of the optimum ways for facilitating financial inclusion was
creating awareness and access through digital programs. These programs were and will be widely used for
creating awareness and access to digital banking, financial aid, and social security among socially backward
and geographically distanced communities.
Covid fast tracked social inclusion in several ways by creating opportunities for disadvantaged communities
through CSR initiatives. This was largely tech-driven and digital mediums bypassed the barriers and disruptions
brought on by the pandemic to ensure that awareness about health and quality education was accessible to
all. The pandemic fast-tracked innovation and the use of digital technologies not just for day-to-day operations,
but also for social impact and addressing climate change. Overall, these technologies and innovative trends
definitely will result in the creation of a more inclusive, safer, cleaner, and green world.

(India’s finance
minister, Nirmala
Sitharaman, called
for the creation
of a “social stock
exchange”, allowing
ethically minded
investors to buy stakes
in social enterprises,
volunteer groups and
welfare organizations.)
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Gender and Covid deep connections
Four factors are stalling
improvements in girls’ education
in the country: disruptions in
funding, school nutrition, access to
schools, and unemployment rates,
according to a report published
in Forbes India2. In the last few
decades, India’s efforts to close
the gender gaps in education
were starting to pay off. Female
literacy and enrollment have gone
up, which are both telltale signs
of progress. Then the COVID-19
pandemic hit, impacting 70 years’
worth of growth undermining the
distance covered so painstakingly.
In India, the majority of women
are employed outside the formal
economy. 60 percent of those
in the age group of 15 to 59 are
engaged in full-time domestic
work, according to the Indian

Government’s Economic Survey

female labor force participation

2020. This has deprived them of

in the country. Other notable

many social and legal protections,

trends showcase females

while mothers who have stopped

spending disproportionately more

working during the lockdown,

time on unpaid domestic and

do twice as much childcare and

caregiving services to household

housework than their partners.

members as compared to their

Data from the Centre for Monitoring

male counterparts. To effectively

Indian Economy shows that

address this issue, the government

between March and April 2020, an

launched a series of actions such

estimated 17

million Indian
women lost their jobs,
in both the formal and
informal sectors. This is in
addition to the fact that
they also earn 35 percent
less on average than
men; the global average
is 16 percent3.

as cash transfers, distribution of
gas cylinders, and collateral-free
lending.

The Aatma Nirbhar Bharat
Rozgar Yojana was launched by
the government as an incentive
to boost employment in the
country. However, despite this,
trends have revealed low levels of

(Women leave bank after withdrawing cash during a 21-day nationwide lockdown to slow the spreading of
coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in Agra, India, April 7, 2020. Image Courtsey: Reuters)
2

https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/covid-19-impact-india-girls-education/

3

https://www.businesstoday.in/current/economy-politics/economic-survey-2020-60-percent-women-in-the-worldfastest-growing-economy-do-only-housework/story/395111.html
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R&D in India: A rural perspective
Contrary to the earlier belief, economists are now
emphasizing the lagged yet very significant impact
of investment in R&D towards overall growth, evident
by the sudden shift in investing behavior. According
to IFPRI, agricultural investment is the key to meeting
half of the SDGs. It assists in ensuring food security,
improves socio-economic conditions and livelihood,
and creates an enabling environment for private
investments. India’s

R&D spending is a mere
0.7% compared to the 1.3% (Brazil &
Malaysia) of other developing countries
and 2.7% (USA) of developed countries4.
The essence of overall growth does not lie in the
overall investment within the segment; instead, it lies
in the percentage of research and development
carried out by private, non-profit and business sectorsa component in which India lags. R&D is of specific
importance in rural areas, as researching new ways
for the application of technology will have a positive
impact on rural livelihoods.
Dr. Rajvanshi, Director NARI, states that R&D spurs
innovation in rural India, which thereby gives birth
to opportunities for venture funds for rural startups,
funding grassroot S&T bodies, and promotion of social
entrepreneurship throughout the states.

4
https://dst.gov.in/indias-rd-expenditure-scientific-publications-rise
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Reshaping the development
ecosystem: CSR, ESG, and DEI
Corporate Social Responsibility:
In the present era of COVID-19, the Government
of India is encouraging companies to provide social
support. According to a March 23, 2020, Ministry of
Corporate Affairs circular, all expenditures incurred on
activities related to COVID-19 were made permissible
avenues for CSR expenditure. According to the circular,
funds can be spent on various activities related
to COVID-19 such as the promotion of healthcare
including preventive healthcare and sanitation, and
disaster management. The order was considered a
welcome step by many who believed this would help
the government and industry join forces and alleviate
the distressing impact of the virus outbreak.
Organizations have managed the early-stage
setback and have leveraged opportunities from
innovation and digital technologies to emerge resilient.
Businesses have also stepped up their community
outreach initiatives. This

corroborates what
Albert Einstein once said- “It is every
man’s obligation to put back into the
world at least the equivalent of what he
takes out of it.”

India’s social sector spending

CSR insights in 2020-21, some facts

Compared with other BRICS countries, India

In the previous year, more than half the annual

underspends on the social sector—reflected in its

CSR – INR 7,863 Crore was allocated to COVID relief

relatively poor ranking (117th) on the Sustainable

measures.

Development Report. Central government spending

The current allocation to fight COVID by corporate

on the top 10 social programmes accounted for the

India shows the following facts:

vast majority of overall public funding for the social

•

INR 5,324 Crore donated to PM-Cares

sector, with a contribution of INR 3.2 lakh crore for

•

INR 2,529 Crore allocated for COVID relief

FY20. State funds for the social sector have historically

•

INR 9 Crore donated to NGOs for COVID relief

been about four times that of the central government,

•

Private industrial conglomerates were the most

suggesting total public spending on the social

generous category contributing more than INR

sector of approximately INR 15 lakh crore for FY20.

1,830 Crore to PM-Cares and setting aside another

Also, historically, India has a structural
spending gap of about 5% to 6% of
GDP, relative to BRICS 5. Given this gap and the

INR 1,300 Crore for COVID relief measures to be
taken as needed.
•

Oil, gas, petroleum, and energy sector, dominated

pandemic-induced setback to the social sector, we

by the PSUs, is next with INR 1,600 Crore in

expect that India as a developing nation with multiple

donations to PM-Cares and INR 18 Crore in

socio-economic and fiscal challenges will continue

provisions. About half of the industry’s annual CSR

to face a significant annual funding deficit in the near

budget was thus allocated for COVID relief.

term.

6

•

BFSI (largely private) and Mining (mostly PSUs)
made almost similar contributions of around INR
530 Crore to PM-cares and provisions of INR 100
Crore each.

•

Heavy machine and equipment manufacturers
contributed INR 200 Crore, telecom INR 135 Crore,
construction and real estate nearly 100 Crore to
PM-Cares.

•

IT/ITES made donations worth INR 75 Crore to PMCares in addition to significant tech support and
set aside INR 250 Crore for more COVID work –their
average CSR annually is upwards of INR 2,000
Crore.

•

Notably, the mining industry donated most of its
budget to PM-Cares and FMCG industry allocated
most of its budget for COVID response.

•

Quite predictably, Central and Eastern regions of
India which lag on most SDGs and are chronically
under-funded, received less than 10% of the CSR
pool. Their biggest contributors are PSUs from the
mining, energy, and oil and gas industries. These
companies allocated a majority of their CSR for
COVID relief, putting their regular CSR activities at
risk.

5

https://www.bain.com/insights/india-philanthropy-report-2021/

6

https://www.sattva.co.in/insight/covid-19-in-india-csr-outlook-for-2020-21/
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CSR - COVID Response and Outlook for ‘20-21 (INR Crores)
475 (INR Crores)
CSR - COVID Response and Outlook for ‘20-21
18

7,147
7,147

Avg. Annual Budget
15,000
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5,324
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475
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3,000
Avg. Annual Budget
3,000
2,507

Avg. Annual Budget
15,000

2,817
2,507
2,817

2,529

PVT

2,529

PVT

6,673

Donated to PM-Cares fund
Committed to other COVID relief
6,673
Potentially available for non-COVID projects
Donated to PM-Cares fund
Committed to other COVID relief
Potentially available for Sources:
non-COVID
projects
Company
and Govt. press releases, CSR data from MCA, IDI analysis

Avg. Annual Budget
12,000
Avg. Annual Budget
12,000

2,511

2,511

©IndiadataInsights.com

Notes: Donated to PM-Cares fund - Donation made under PM Cares fund; Committed to other COVID relief - Funds committed but not
necessarily utilized yet; Avg. Annual Budget has been derived from the trends of 2014-17 time period based on data from MCA

©IndiadataInsights.com

Sources: Company and Govt. press releases, CSR data from MCA, IDI analysis
Notes: Donated to PM-Cares fund - Donation made under PM Cares fund; Committed to other COVID relief - Funds committed but not
necessarily utilized yet; Avg. Annual Budget has been derived from the trends of 2014-17 time period based on data from MCA

(Key areas of CSR in FY 2020-2021)

(Fig.3)

Contribution to Prime Minister’s Relief
Fund and other state and other funds
Environment Sustainability
Employment enhancing
vocational skills
Other matters as may
be prescribed
Eradication of hunger and poverty
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Schedule VII

f
s

CSR - COVID Response and Outlook for ‘20-21 by Industry (INR Crores)
Conglomerate
1,832
1,305
CSR
- COVID Response and
Outlook for ‘20-21 by Industry
(INR Crores)
Energy
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BFSI
Energy
Mining
BFSI
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Pharma
Telecom
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Real Estate
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Transport
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Notes: Donated
to PM-Cares
- Donation
Committed
to fund
other
COVID made
relief under PM Cares fund; Committed to other COVID relief - Funds committed but not
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Notes: Donated to PM-Cares fund - Donation made under PM Cares fund; Committed to other COVID relief - Funds committed but not
necessarily utilized yet; Avg. Annual Budget has been derived from the trends of 2014-17 time period based on data from MCA

Promotion of education
Gender equality and women
empowerment
Reducing child mortality and
improving maternal health
Combating HIV/AIDS, maternal
and other diseases
Social Business Projects
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ESG and DEI
Environmental, Social, and (Corporate)

Economic Survey 2020-21: Key
Points

Governance (ESG) factors are critical to building a
more ethical and sustainable global economy. It has
been known for a fairly long time now that diversity,
equity, and inclusion (DEI), ESG and CSR, are critical
areas to benefit not only the company, employees,
and shareholders, but also foster much-needed
positive change across local communities. Though ESG

The economic survey of 2020-21, presented in
the parliament by the union minister for Finance and
Corporate Affairs, Nirmala Sitharaman, facilitated our
understanding of the current situation and trajectory
of growth ahead for India amidst the COVID-19
pandemic.

practices are now widely accepted as the norm for
companies, in 2021, enterprises’ ESG initiatives gained
more prominence. Good ESG practices have been

CSR Contributions
Declined Toward:

defined not only by CSR initiatives but also by how
environmentally and socially conscious businesses
are being built. Through ESG, the companies have
been able to integrate better environmental, social,
and governance strategies into their DNA, create an

Education
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impact that benefits everyone and generate shared

5000

value for stakeholders and society at large. Such a

4000

cohesive approach not only emerged as common
binding glue but also as a vital element for ensuring

3000

long-term sustainability.

2000

Meanwhile, most companies in India are yet
to fully explore these development agendas and
initiatives that will merge into their very business DNA

0

ensure long-term sustainability and add value for the
There is an urgent need to ensure that CSR spending
has a multiplier effect on social, economic, and
environmental impact on the ground. This will have to
be achieved by measuring outcomes of CSR spending
over time, as well as engaging in activities with larger
impact potential. Funding research and technology
incubators could be one such area where the impact
could be highly diversified.
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1000

as strategic business functions. Adopting these will
company as well as the community that it is part of.
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SOURCE: Ministry of Corporate Affairs, data updated
is as of December 30, 2020: Sattva Consulting
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Measures for combatting the virus
The survey entailed a detailed explanation of the
approach undertaken by the state in combatting the
virus. It highlighted that the Indian State had adopted
a ‘humane principle’ wherein, given the pandemic,
human lives were accorded centrality in its functioning
and operations.

A 4-pillar strategy- containment,
fiscal, financial, and long-term structural
reforms- was adopted by India to
support its economy.
These measures ensured the creation of a favorable
monetary and fiscal environment that cushioned
vulnerable and boosted consumption and investment.

The advance estimates made by NSO
declared that India’s real GDP would
record an 11.0% growth in FY2021-22
and nominal GDP would grow by 15.4%
– the highest since independence. As a

result, the survey stated the recovery of the Indian GDP

agriculture witnessed major job losses. On 26 May
2020, CRISIL announced that India was facing its worst
recession since independence.
Social distancing, self-isolation, and travel
restrictions led to a loss of jobs and consequently
reduced workforce across all economic sectors. In
contrast, the need for medical supplies increased
significantly. The food sector saw increased demand
due to panic buying and stockpiling of food.
Apart from issues such as the lack of supplies, one
major development observed across rural India was
the bogey of fears, myths, and ill-conceived notions
relating to Covid vaccination. While the government
continued to make significant strides on the supplies
front, the sheer lack of knowledge and understanding
about vaccination emerged as a major hurdle in
combating the virus.
Grappling with misinformation, the implementation of development projects was strenuous, with
COVID-19 activities taking up the biggest chunk of
funding. Several cyclones and floods wreaked havoc in

after the temporary setback.

large parts of the subcontinent. As a result, funds were

Developing Sustainably

ala, Bihar, Odisha, and West Bengal. These challenges

The reinstated focus on healthcare due to the
pandemic has further emphasized the need to
develop the country in a more sustainable manner
that ensures it remains resilient to any type of calamity.
As a result, the economic survey stated India’s several
proactive steps to mainstream UN’s Sustainable
Development Goals into policies, schemes, and
programmes. The survey stated that institutional
structures have been created within several states and
Union Territories for SDG implementation and nodal
mechanisms within every department and at the
district levels for better coordination and convergence.

The year that was: combating
a plethora of challenges in rural
India

also directed to disaster relief operations in Assam, Kerfaced by the social sector were severely compounded
by the shift from other traditional funding areas toward
Covid-19 relief.
About 63.19 lakh migrant workers travelled through
Shramik Special trains from May-August 2020. With
limited data available on inter-state migration and
employment in informal sectors, it is difficult to figure
the number of migrants who lost jobs. Battling with
insufficient data, the on-ground impact of COVID-19
becomes difficult to determine. Lack of data further
impacts the efficacy with which CSR organisations
can chart their programmes. However, the pandemic
has particularly evoked a sense of alertness in various
companies which are now looking for innovative
ways to continue CSR activities in rural India despite
COVID-19, in an attempt to make these “Covid-proof”.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic is posing one
of the most severe shocks to the world economy since
World War II. With close to 10.9 million jobs being lost
across sectors, 2020 was termed the ‘worst-ever year
for the job market’ in India7. Also, as per a joint report
by the International Labor Organization (ILO) and the
Asian Development Bank (ADB), construction and
7
https://www.moneycontrol.com/news/business/economy/covid-19-job-impact-which-sectors-lost-the-most-people-and-which-ones-hired-the-most-in-2020-6334431.html
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Conclusion

We evolved as an empathetic society last

2020 was a year of hard truths, which uncovered

deep fault lines around the inequities seeping
across our nation. This was also a wake-up call to
reimagine the approach and efforts towards strategic
development initiatives. There is a need to explore the
scope for bringing livelihoods into the development
policy framework with a specific focus on development
programmes. For instance, can we try and involve
SHGs in telemedicine-based programmes? Can SHGs
be the first level basic health workers?
Experts in the social sector point out that there
are still a lot of challenges, exacerbated by the
pandemic and the recent amendments, which need
to be ironed out. These unprecedented challenges
also revealed the ‘human side’ of large and small
organizations alike and the difference they can make
when they join hands with the government machinery.
The current CSR landscape of India needs to evolve in
the right direction by companies truly playing their role
in advancing social impact in a more sustained and
effective manner.

Compiled by Ms. Ishita Meshram, AVP, Ms. Stuti
Banga and Ms. Nikita Sachanandani,
Interns, NABFOUNDATION
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year. But yet there are areas where we need to
evolve more. Firstly, a shift in mind-set from one that
focuses on meeting a statutory obligation to one
where companies proactively identify and generate
sustained impact projects aligned with their core
values. Secondly, streamlined information on activities
that are permitted under the regulation. Thirdly, the
creation of channels for identification of projects on a
pan-India basis. This will help spread the deployment of
CSR funds to areas where the maximum impact would
be possible.
There is no denying that Covid has virtually been
the biggest disruptor for most of us as far as the policy
framework of development projects is concerned.
This has undoubtedly brought CSR to the forefront.
Corporates, both large and small, headquartered
in India or abroad, have risen to the challenge and
augmented the government’s efforts by re-orienting
their CSR strategies. It is hoped that the same zeal
and mission-mode orientation carries over to activities
beyond the pandemic.
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VISION STATEMENT

Catalyst for Sustainable Development

MISSION STATEMENT

To implement sustainable projects
in the field of agriculture and rural
development in a coordinated manner
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6. Brief about NABFOUNDATION
Registered under Section 8 of the Companies
Action, 2013, NABFOUNDATION has been set up
to complement NABARD’s developmental and
promotional roles. It aims to develop innovative
projects which address the development aspirations
of rural India and strengthen the delivery of projects
in agriculture and rural development. As a 100
percent subsidiary of NABARD, NABFOUNDATION will
leverage the various development funds of NABARD
and take up projects in convergence mode with
funding tie-ups with like-minded stakeholders. The
new subsidiary is expected to implement NABARD’s
developmental initiatives all over the country with
special emphasis on geographies which suffer from
lack of good civil society organizations. The very

6.1 Value Drivers of
NABFOUNDATION
NABFOUNDATION aims to emerge as a strong and
vibrant institution so that other financial institutions,
government agencies, and corporates step forward
to avail its services for implementation of their
development projects in agriculture and rural sectors.
With an increase in the scale of operations and visible
professional imprint in implementation of various
projects, NABFOUNDATION will also reach out to
Corporates for CSR collaboration.
Within the context of its MoA, the core areas of
interest to NABFOUNDATION are as follows:

structure of NABFOUNDATION thus is about networking,
coordination and collaborations with other like-minded
organizations.

7. Overview of NABFOUNDATION during 2020-21
The year 2020-21 was particularly challenging for NABFOUNDATION with impaired mobility emerging
as a huge limitation. The year however saw the Foundation establishing itself as a significant player in the
development space. The highlight of the year was acquiring 12A and 80G certifications from ITO, Mumbai which
completed the circle of required documentation. The certificates made NABFOUNDATION eligible to receive
funds from individuals and other corporates to take up developmental activities in agriculture and rural sector.
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7.1 Overall developments:

Chairman, NABARD, and NABFOUNDATION. CEOs

•

the event and discussed the scope of partnerships

of nearly 20 top CSR establishments participated in

12 AA certification:

between NABARD and their organizations.

NABFOUNDATION acquired the 12 AA certificate
from the Income-tax authority after the end of the
reporting period for exemption from tax liabilities.
•

•

Before the COVID lockdown took away mobility,
meetings were held with American India

80 G certificate:

Foundation, CARE India, Sulabh International,

NABFOUNDATION received its 80 G certificate

Sustalife Foundation, Integral Livelihood and

making its inflows/donations eligible for tax

Social Entrepreneurship Foundation, Natwest India

exemption under Section 80G of Income Tax Act.

Foundation, Market Mirchi and Pradan. These

By contributing, the donors will help in creating on-

meetings were held to explore and identify areas

ground impact and can also avail tax deduction

of support and collaboration in the projects being

benefit.
•

CSR-1 registration:
As a part of the new statutory requirements under
the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility)
Amendment Rules, 2021, NABFOUNDATION filed for
Form CSR-1 and is now registered with Ministry of

•

Meetings with stakeholders:

considered for execution by NABFOUNDATION.
•

NABFOUNDATION
NAB
FOUNDATION Website:
The website addresses a critical need expressed by
our parent body NABARD– leveraging technology
to provide a real-time representation of progress

Corporate Affairs for undertaking CSR activities.

under each of our development projects. The

Webinar organised:

content. It hosts a pool of dynamic content, be

Webinar organised on NABFOUNDATION’s
Foundation Day: NABFOUNDATION completed
one year of its operation on 31st August 2020. On
the occasion of Foundation Day, a webinar was
organised that was chaired by Dr. G R Chintala,

website is an interesting mix of static and dynamic
it Agri Innovations & Start-ups, bringing out the
Success Stories or just by enabling a platform for
Artisans’ Exchange.
		

A real-time MIS (Management Information

System) has been designed which enables
seamless dynamic communication amongst
all stakeholders. This not only enables strategic
planning and forecasts, but also evaluates the
various stages of the project. The backend and
frontend of the website has a robust integrated
infrastructure that handles the functionality of the
web application.
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		 NABFOUNDATION’s website empowers its

the world around them on a one-to-one basis

users by providing an engaging yet compelling

and that includes architects, interior decorators,

experience through an array of technology-

B2B platforms, online retailers and interested

powered features such as CTA (Click to Action),

individuals.

effortless navigation and excellent visual design.
•
•

Hiring of interns:
The Foundation hired three interns from reputed

Database for strengthening market linkages

under TDF (Tribal Development Fund)

Universities to utilise their knowledge and skills in all

NABFOUNDATION aims to bring tribal communities

the on-going and upcoming projects. The interns

supported by NABARD under TDF a closer to

contributed in developing the DBMS of projects,

markets. In this direction the first steps were taken

giving shape to projects in addition to other works

towards building a comprehensive State and

assigned besides managing the social media

District-wise database of the available marketable

campaign of the Foundation. They were each

surplus for being uploaded on NABFOUNDATION’s

associated with a live project which had clearly

website. This will ultimately benefit the communities

defined deliverables and outputs.

working under TDF and ensure security by
establishing a marketing channel.
		

•

The primary motive is to support traditional

Social Media Campaign:
Social media platforms- Facebook, LinkedIn,

economic activities, sustainable agriculture,

Instagram were used to create awareness

livelihoods based on tribal art, craft and non-

about ongoing and upcoming projects at

farm activities, women empowerment, and

NABFOUNDATION. This was done by posting regular

improvement in quality of life including health, etc.

project updates and maintaining transparency
about the workings and goals of the project.

•

Data collation - Handicrafts of India

Additionally, posts on drawing linkages with real-

We believe that the handicrafts sector in India

life happenings to demonstrate the need of our

needs every form of support possible in an ever-

projects also helped in engaging more viewers on

competitive world. With a desire to create a digital

the social media.

space exclusively for craftsmen and artisans for
visibility on public domain, NABFOUNDATION

•

Designing Corporate brochure:

established a separate module on its website

In an attempt to enhance our visibility in the

called ‘Artisan Exchange’. The platform

CSR world and other developmental arenas, a

disseminates information and data on different

corporate brochure was designed and shared with

facets of this sector and tries to support the

our stakeholders

craftsmen by enlisting their details on the website.
With this platform, we intend to provide a gateway
of opportunities to the artisans to connect with
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7.2

Major projects initiated:

Footprint of NAB
NABFOUNDATION’s
FOUNDATION’s projects
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Project

District

State

1

AAPNO PAANI

Jodhpur

Rajasthan

2

Meghalaya Hills Broom
Farmers Producers
Organization

Ri-Bhoi

Meghalaya
Assam
Mizoram

3

Nagaland

NEW (NER
ENTREPRENEURS’ WORLD),
first of its kind initiative for
skill development

Meghalaya
Sikkim
Arunachal Pradesh
Manipur
Tripura

4

5

Farm-Based Livelihood
Education and Learning
School

MY PAD | MY RIGHT

East Garo Hills

Meghalaya

Vizianagaram

Andhra Pradesh

Namsai

Arunachal Pradesh

Barpeta

Assam

Dharbanga

Bihar

Rajnandgaon

Chhattisgarh

North Goa

Goa

Rajkot

Gujarat

Rewari

Haryana

Solan

Himachal Pradesh

East Singhbhum

Jharkhand

Kalaburgi

Karnataka

Alappuzha

Kerala

Gwalior

Madhya Pradesh

Jalgaon

Maharashtra

Imphal East

Manipur

WEST JAINTIA HILLS

Meghalaya

Lunglei

Mizoram

Mokokchung

Nagaland

Sambalpur

Odisha

Fatehgarh Sahib

Punjab

Udaipur

Rajasthan

South Sikkim

Sikkim

Krishnagiri

Tamil Nadu

Warangal Rural

Telengana

Gomati

Tripura

Amethi

Uttar Pradesh

Uttar Kashi

Uttarakhand

Nadia

West Bengal

Union Territories
Ramban

Jammu & Kashmir

South Andaman

Andama & Nicobar
Islands

Silvassa

Dadra & Nagar Haveli

Karaikal

Puducherry

South West Delhi

Delhi

Leh

Ladakh
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7.2.1 PROJECT- I : MY PAD | MY RIGHT
Menstruation continues to be a stigmatized

Under Phase I of the project, machines were to be

and tabooed subject in rural India till date. Lack of

installed in one district of every state. The first machine

awareness, social stigma and, most of all, sheer non-

was installed in Alappuzha district of Kerala and the

availability of affordable options is said to kill nearly

unit was inaugurated by Shri. K V Shaji, DMD. This

40,000 women each year due to cervical cancer

unit has grown to become one of the best working

caused by poor menstrual hygiene. Young girls in rural

units and has also secured a Quality Certification

India are forced to drop out of school due to lack of

for the pads from the Chennai Laboratories. What

confidence during their periods and proper sanitation

followed subsequently at national level was a series

facilities in schools.

of elaborate medical and awareness camps across

After a series of discussions with various

the country. District and state level dignitaries

stakeholders, NABFOUNDATION designed the project

launched the project in various states and extensive

‘MY PAD|MY RIGHT’ which addresses not only the

media coverage followed almost every unit’s launch.

issue of menstrual hygiene but also provides livelihood

29 out of 33 machines sanctioned in Phase I have

opportunities to the women of rural India. Under this

been successfully installed across India. The logistics

project, one SHG in each district of the country will

involved in successful delivery and installation of these

be provided an award-winning sanitary pad making

machines were a mammoth task. The success would

machine along with all the requisite production and

not have been possible without the support of all our

marketing skills.

stakeholders viz. our vendors Jayaashree Industries, the
NGOs, SHGs and NABARD DDMs.

Hon’ble Union Minister for Women and Child Development Smt. Smriti
Irani, speaking on the occasion of the launch of project
‘MY PAD|MY RIGHT’ on 15th October 2020

Chairman, Dr. G R Chintala, inspecting the sanitary
pad making machine at the factory in Coimbatore.
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NABFOUNDATION’s
NAB
FOUNDATION’s Imprint
Financial support in the form of grant
coupled with logistic support from the DDMs
posted in these districts are the two components
that made this project successful. The unique
points of the project are the additional initiatives
taken up by NABFOUNDATION to give the project
a fresh perspective.
•

Branding: The project being a pan-India
project, a common brand name and logo for
all the units across the country was crucial.
NABFOUNDATION created a bold logo and
a very powerful brand name for the product
and these are also being registered with the
Trademark registry.

•

Packaging: A unique vibrant packaging
has been designed for the pads which will
be commonly used across the country.
Additionally, single envelopes have been
designed in which the SHG can sell the pads
as single units, wherever required.

•

Training All training material- the training
Training:
manual, awareness film and the SHG training
film were scripted and prepared in-house by

The first unit under project ‘MY PAD|MY RIGHT’ being
inaugurated by Shri. K V Shaji, DMD, NABARD in
Alappuzha District, Kerala

NABFOUNDATION.
•

Signing of MOUs: NABFOUNDATION has
successfully entered into MOUs with State
Bank of India and Central Bank of India,
where SHGs having their accounts with these
banks can easily avail collateral free working
capital loan.

•

MIS portal: An effective tech-based MIS
system has been put in place where all
claims by the NGO/SHG are submitted,
approved and released in a timely and
organized way. This dynamic module will
also fetch state wise reports involving details
of status of project, financials, production,
sales etc. as well as cumulative reports of the
project.

Signing MOU with SBI
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7.2.1.1 MPMR Success Stories
The severe shortage of sanitary napkins in rural
India due to the COVID-19 pandemic shook the rural
development ecosystem to the core and created a
silent health crisis for rural women. As a result of this
shortage, many rural women began drifting back
to unhygienic alternatives. This ultimately led to the
undoing of years of progress that had empowered rural
women to access and adopt sanitary napkins.
In this light, NABFOUNDATION’s ‘My Pad| My
Right’ (MPMR) project emerged as one of the critical
turning points; a light at the end of the tunnel. The
implementation of this project in one district of each
state/Union Territory of the country ensured that rural
women had a continuous supply of quality sanitary
napkins and that they were simultaneously able to
earn a livelihood selling these pads to other SHG
members.
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Despite the challenges and restrictions, the
pandemic did not dampen the spirit of the women
SHG members involved in the project. Together with our
NGO partners, these women continued to work, many
times from home, on different facets of the project.
Many of them even made significant strides in helping
the project gain traction by marketing and selling the
MPMR pads in different rural spheres. As an ode to their
effort and determination, NABFOUNDATION has culled
out a few stories that briefly trace their journey with
MPMR and highlight the unique ways through which
they have vigorously worked towards empowering
women in rural India.

Alappuzha, Kerala
In December 2020, the ‘Padman of India,’ Padma

Jalgaon, Maharashtra
In a pandemic that resulted in the shutting down

Shri Arunachalam Muruganantham, came down to

of a vast majority of economic activities, the Zashichi

Kerala to grace the occasion of the installation of his

Rani SHG along with Jalgaon Janata Sahakari Bank Ltd

award-winning pad-making machine in Alappuzha

district of Jalgaon showed that imagination and drive

under the MPMR project.

can beat the worst of disasters like Covid. This year,

A few months down the line, after a thorough

the theme for International Women’s Day was ‘Choose

market analysis, the NGO and SHG identified the need

to Challenge,’ and an event organized by the SHG

to boost their marketing initiatives to increase the sale

women of Jalgaon was in perfect accordance with

of their pads. As an extension of this, they decided to

this time. On this day, the SHG women participated

send these pads to the Chennai Laboratories testing

in a ‘haat’ to generate awareness around menstrual

lab. The results from the lab revealed that MPMR pads

hygiene and distributed MPMR pads to women working

were compliant with ISO standards of IS 5405. This

at a petrol pump in Jalgaon. Through this initiative,

certification highlights that MPMR pads are at par with

the SHG women challenged the stigma around

commercially available pads in quality and hygiene.

menstruation and issues of period poverty that had

This certification not only boosted the morale of the

been exacerbated due to the pandemic.

SHG but also emerged as the USP of MPMR pads,

The SHG women have also played a crucial

distinguishing them from other pads available in the

role in boosting the social media platforms of

market.

NABFOUNDATION. For example, on 4th February

Apart from this, the Alappuzha unit has adopted

2021, the SHG women prepared a one-minute video

an innovative marketing strategy by reaching out to

highlighting the benefits of the MPMR pads and how

the local fishery industry and coir industry since women

they operate the machine to produce them. This video

constitute the majority labor workforce here and the

brought the SHG women to the forefront and helped

provision of MPMR pads is envisioned to be of great

the consumers build a direct connection with those

value to them.

working towards empowering rural women through

At present, it has been estimated that the women

MPMR.

from Oruma SHG, with the guidance of Gandhi
Smaraka Grama Seva Kendra (GSGSK) NGO, have
produced an average of 110-130
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Up until this point, the SHG women, alongside the

Rajnandgaon, Chhattisgarh

NGO, have conducted three awareness campaigns

Project MPMR was launched in the district of

in different areas of Jalgaon to educate rural women

Rajnandgaon on 12th February 2021 with a medical

about the different facets of maintaining menstrual

camp and menstrual hygiene awareness program.

hygiene and how this can be achieved through MPMR

Here the tribal block of Dongargarh was selected

pads.

to generate awareness among rural women about

In a period of just four months, despite the
pandemic, these women have been able to produce
over 3500 pads. Of these, over 900 pads have been

menstrual management and facilitate livelihood
generation with the utmost rigor.
One month after the launch, the daily production

sold to generate revenue, and over 1000 pads have

was in the range of 50-60 pads. Gradually, through the

been distributed across Jalgaon- all this solely through

tireless efforts and dedication of the women of Kaveri

the effort of one SHG. This indeed emphasizes the

SHG, the production capacity of the unit increased

multiplier effect that project MPMR can have for

to 300-350 pads per day during the last week of April

significantly improving the livelihoods and sanitation of

2021. As of 30th April 2021, SHG members have made

rural women across India.

over 5000 pads. Out of this, they have been able to sell
more than 900 pads to other SHG groups across the
district.
Alongside this, the women SHG members, with
support from Sarvanari Jankalyan Samiti, an NGO,
have developed a comprehensive marketing plan by
contacting higher secondary schools and identifying
ten local shops as possible avenues for selling their
pads.
Compared to other districts, the women from
Rajnandgaon district have been able to produce
and sell a large number of pads in a short duration of
time, irrespective of the restrictions put in place due
to Covid. This in itself is a testament to the underlying
potential of the project and the unstoppable fervor of
the SHG women to earn a livelihood for themselves.
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West Jaintia Hills, Meghalaya
Over the past few months, the district of West

Amethi, Uttar Pradesh
The district of Amethi has proven to be one of the

Jaintia Hills in Meghalaya has emerged as the

most dedicated districts by taking up production and

torchbearer for project MPMR in the North-East with

marketing with utmost passion and energy. Within

respect to production and marketing. The women SHG

a short duration of 4 months, the women from Man

members and the NGO of this district have shown the

Samman Mahila SHG in Amethi, with the help of Rajiv

capacity to carefully consider the external context and

Gandhi Mahila Vikas Pariyojana, NGO, have been able

draft plans accordingly for the project’s success.

to produce over 12,000 units of MPMR pads and earn

The project was launched with a medical camp

a revenue of over 18000 rupees till date, making them

covering three villages of Lummuriap, Thadialong, and

the highest producer of the MPMR pads across the

Thadbamon and benefited more than 300 people in

country.

those regions. This event was covered by several media

Amethi has thus emerged as a model for other

channels such as Doordarshan, Shillong Times, Syllad

districts to follow with regard to production capacity,

Online News, and Wyrta Online News and received

marketing, and sale. As of date, the women from

wide acclaim across the North-East.

Man Samman Mahila SHG have covered 16 villages

By the end of March 2021, the sanitary pad

to sell the pads. This has not only ensured increased

machine was installed, and the training of the women

access of quality menstrual hygiene products into rural

SHG members was completed. Since then, three SHGs

areas during the pandemic but also empowered the

under the guidance of Lachanlang SHG have been

SHG women to continue working under the ambit of

actively involved in the training and making of the

NABFOUNDATION’s ‘My Pad | My Right.’

pads. Though the COVID restrictions have caused a
hiatus in the production of the pads, to date, about 300
pads have been manufactured by the SHG members,
and plans for producing more have been put in order.
As a marketing initiative, the SHG women and
the NGO have targeted the four schools affiliated
to Jaintia Hills Development Society (JHDS) and the
Diocese, other SHGs in the NRLM federations, locally
supported orphanages, shelter homes, and Primary
Health Centers (PHCs).
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Way Forward
Although we have covered only a few districts
in our report, we find that each district currently
operating under MPMR has shown its full support and
dedication to make this project a success, not only by
designing unique area specific outreach plans but also
by turning towards each other and learning from each
other’s on-ground experiences.
The launch of ‘My Pad|My Right’ at the hands of
Smriti Irani truly lit a spark across the whole country
and resulted in a much-needed boost to NABARD
and NABFOUNDATION’s initiative. Today we find that
through dedicated efforts, strategic planning, and
relentless marketing initiatives, women SHG members
and our partner NGOs have truly carried forward
this spark, more so, converted it into a raging flamea flame that desires to empower each and every
rural woman across the country by improving their
menstrual hygiene and providing them livelihood
opportunities.
Though flagship days like International Women’s
Day and World Menstrual Hygiene Day are pivotal
for spreading awareness, the efforts of SHG women
through a project like MPMR ensure that every single
day is spent towards empowering rural women.
Through this, we hope to continue learning from each
other and powering through pandemic-like situations
that may occur in the future.

7.2.2 PROJECT- II: Meghalaya
Hills Broom Farmers Producers
Organization
Meghalaya is often referred to as the “jharu capital
of India” since it is one of the major broom-grass
producers in India. Meghalaya’s undulating landscape
provides the ideal ground for the tall grass. However,
one look at the broomstick value & supply chain in the
region and it becomes clear that the role of the locals
here is limited to being raw material suppliers. Every
year, after the harvesting of the grass, it is sundried
and supplied to the traders who come from various
states of the country. The largely unorganized sector
results in the broom grass growers receiving a meager
remuneration for their produce from the traders. On
the other hand, the traders process the grass and
manufacture broomsticks out of it, which in turn fetches
4 to 5 folds of profit. The broom-grass growers are at
the tail end of the profit chain and reel under abject
poverty.
To improve their participation in the value &
supply chain and to improve the economic condition,
NABFOUNDATION has taken an initiative with the
support of NABARD to promote an Off-Farm Producer
Organization (OFPO). It is an attempt to collectivize
the efforts of the broom grass growers and strengthen
the supply chain of broomstick manufacturing in
Meghalaya. The OFPO will be promoted in Ri-Bhoi
District of Meghalaya and capacity building of the
broom grass growers through skill development will
form a major component of the project. The OFPO will
cover all activities starting right from the promotion
of scientific cultivation and crop management
practices, procurement of grass, processing of grass,
manufacturing of broomstick and sales & marketing
of the same. A common facilitation center will be
established to manufacture broomstick. The OFPO will
be owned by the broom grass growers and the profit
will be shared among
them.
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7.2.3 PROJECT- III:
Farm-Based Livelihood Education
and Learning School
East Garo Hills district in Meghalaya is one of the

7.2.4 PROJECT- IV: NEW (NER
ENTREPRENEURS’ WORLD), first of its
kind initiative for skill development
The North East Region, with extreme topography,

most remote and backward districts of India. The major

multiple dialects and diverse cultures, is indeed a

source of livelihood in the district revolves around

challenge for the best of policy framers. The inhibiting

agriculture and allied activities. Due to the lack of

land laws and cultural differences have also ensured

technical knowledge and institutional support in the

a rather poor state of affairs in every development

area, the farmers still practice Jhum (Slash and Burn)

area. Skilling and employment have been the major

cultivation. Poor status of agriculture, horticulture, dairy

sufferers. NABFOUNDATION designed Project NEW just

and livestock rearing in the district has not allowed the

to address these very challenges.

farmers to be self-sustainable and as a result, there is
insufficient market surplus of the produce.
In this backdrop, NABFOUNDATION along with the

Project NEW is a technology-led project aimed
at actuating the dreams of aspirational and
entrepreneurial youths of North East by designing

BAKDIL (a CSO, based in Meghalaya) developed a

extremely topical skilling programmes and bringing

unique project - Farm-Based Livelihood Education

credit closer to these youths through tie-ups with banks.

and Learning School. The school is designed to suit the

The project has been developed as an initiative to

requirements of the surrounding region and houses

map the skill aspirations of youth of North East Region.

demonstrational units of piggery, poultry, egg layer,

It aims to address the near absence of small and

horticulture farm and herbal medicinal farm.

medium enterprises in NER by first documenting the

The project has been funded by the Government of

skill aspirations and skill gaps and then building systems

Meghalaya, MPLAD, Meghalaya Basin Development

which provide the required solutions. It is the first ever

Authority, Sunny Trust, BAKDIL, Selco Foundation and

such initiative undertaken for the entire NER.

NABFOUNDATION has sourced financial support from
NABCONS and NABKISAN for the project.

In Phase I, a web-portal will be developed to
capture block-wise data about individuals covering
details regarding their education, experience and
aspirations. Youths will be encouraged to log in and
enter their data on a voluntary basis and this data, duly
collated, will be shared with all important stakeholders
in NER. In the second phase, quite like precision
farming, an effort will be made to provide ‘precision
skilling’.
Reputed corporates like NABCONS, Dalmia
Foundation, NABSAMRUDDHI and NABFINS have
stepped forward with CSR support for this initiative.
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7.2.5 PROJECT- V : “AAPNO
PAANI” - A community-based
initiative to
address both drinking water and
energy crises.
India has become the concentrated center of
global water and sanitation crisis with only 16% of
India’s rural families having access to piped water.
The situation is far grimmer in some states and
Rajasthan, quite predictably, is one of them. Kharabera
Bheemwatan village of Luni block in Jodhpur district, is
one of the most distressed villages of Rajasthan. Here,
due to the acute shortage of clean drinking water,
households depend on makeshift water tankers and
a nearby pond which is also used by the livestock. In
many ways, this village is a representation of all that
is wrong with the watter supply in the state. Here, the
rural women experience discomfort each day for
fetching water from a source that is harmful for both
animals and humans.
The project will comprise of a central solar power
set-up-based RO-UV filtration plant in association
with the implementing partner- Grassroots and
Rural Innovative Development (G.R.I.D). Water will
be sourced from nearby bore well in the Kharabera
Bheemawatan region. It is estimated that the filtration
system will be able to provide 6,000L of drinkable water
each day to the 325 households in the region.
Project “AAPNO PAANI” reinforces the power of
partnerships; partnerships which create momentum
and deliver the much-needed response. With this
project, NABFOUNDATION will help further NABARD’s
mandate of working towards improving the Human
Development Index of people in the rural areas in a
dedicated manner.
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Upcoming Projects:
Developing a value chain for pashmina wool in Leh District in association with Looms of Ladakh: Developing
a community based and owned value and supply chain for production and trade of Pashmina and other wool
products in Ladakh
Due to its harsh climate and difficult terrain, Ladakh has very limited livelihood options. However, there is one
product – ‘Pashmina’ that is exclusive to Ladakh and it has great demand in India as well as in foreign countries.
Pashmina Industry in Ladakh remains a raw material-based industry for the people of Ladakh region. Most
of the profit margin in the pashmina trade is linked with the trade and steps which take place after the sale of
de-haired wool. The Ladakhi producers are not a part of this value creation with just less than 1200 Kg of raw
pashmina being processed into finished products within Ladakh. Plagued by the uncertain and limited economic
returns, the herder centered pashmina sector in Ladakh is experiencing an exodus of younger generation from
this traditional livelihood to other more attractive sectors of the economy.
Given this background, NABFOUNDATION is exploring the opportunity to develop a community-owned supply
chain for the production and trade of Pashmina and other wool products in Ladakh.
Also in the offing are projects which are being imagined jointly in partnership with reputed development
agencies like AIF, CARE, BAIF, Access Digital and NATWEST.

Put together by Team NABFOUNDATION

Sudha Varghese

Harsh Deshmukh

Ishita Meshram

Stuti Banga

Mamtha Mallesh
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8.

Write-ups from thought leaders
in development space
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8.1 Changing development landscape with a special reference to
natural resources
- Ashwini Saxena, CEO, JSW Foundation

About the author:
Shri. Ashwini Saxena, Chief Executive
Officer

at

JSW

Foundation,

comes

with more than 30 years’ experience
across India and Africa with reputed
development organizations such as UNIDO, IFC
(World Bank) and corporates. He holds Master’s
degrees in Geology, Business Management and
CSR Leadership from the University of Geneva. He
has

led

MSME

development/CSR/Sustainability

programs and championed IFC’s Sustainability
Tools in South Asia. He has more than 25 publications
to his credit.

Purnendu, a 55-year-old farmer for the past 40 years,

Purnendu, like many others, is oblivious of the

has been able to educate his children and bring up his

changes that have manifested so subtly, changing

family through a wobbly journey. His land is divided

the overall landscape of development, especially

as his brothers wish to sell their land. The well does not

impacting those, whose livelihoods are linked to natural

yield sufficient water despite yearly deepening. Sowing-

resources. It is a predicament for all- him, the local NGO

always done after the first week of ‘Pausa’ month

team, the factory people, the KVK extension officer, and

doesn’t yield good returns now. His sons prefer working

even the all-powerful local politician. Some key trends

at the nearby factory, the smoke-billowing-gargantuan

that are shaping their development landscape are:

structure that covers large tracts of fertile land and

•

are going up

consumes large quantities of water. The ‘aadhatiya’
is no more benevolent like his father. The local NGO

•
•
•

support but he doesn’t know how to avail them. He
now owns a bank account but it never swells up like the
nearby river which, now quite often floods his fields and
takes away the topsoil.

50

Climate change questioning traditional knowledge
and practices

local NGO or the occasionally coming KVK scientist?
There were several announcements about government

Demographic changes impacting supply as well as
demand

help for his work, but why should they be interested?
Can he trust them or rather continue to rely on the

Government policies narrowing the ‘pro poor’ and
‘pro-industry’ divergence

proclaims alternate markets but nothing concrete has
come as yet. The factory people came once offering

Private sector role is enhancing and expectations

•

Circularity becoming a key consideration

Government Policies: ‘Pro-poor’ or ‘Pro-industry’?
Pro-poor government policy rhetoric has been
age-old and fanciful and Pro-industry trends have
been scorned at. What is becoming evident is that the
perceived divergent directions were never there or
even if were, have increasingly converged as the drivers
of the economy have changed. Consumption of goods
and services provided by the private sector generates
a surplus, leading to tax collections and thereby
provisioning for “public good” by the government. So,
industry-friendly policies may help the government to
meet its obligations as the overall provider of ‘public
Enhanced role of the Private Sector
The private sector plays an enhanced role and has
enhanced expectations from all for it to respect the
social contract it has unknowingly entered into with the
public at large, owing to its increased access to all the

good’. This loop to be understood by the various
constituents of development work may lead to better
convergence & role sharing since a direct correlation
between

just a few.
The influence, pace, scale, and style of functioning
may be a source of discussions & debate but yet the
idiom and data-driven approaches are redefining the
development space like never before. The involvement
and clear role of the private sector in the attainment of
SDGs is just an example.

and

social

sector

Demographic Changes

However, as illustrated it has come up in several ways,
through CSR, PPP projects & Impact Investing to name

collection

expenditure has been observed by several economists.

natural resources.
hitherto earmarked only for development institutions;

revenue

Some key demographic trends necessitating a shift
in the way development needs are addressed are:
•

The urban population increased from 28% in 2001 to
34% in 2017 and likely to be 41% by 2030

•

Average landholding has gone down from 2.25 to
1.08 hectares

•

The average age of farmers has increased while
overall

workforce

participation

in

agriculture

declined by 10%, indicating a likely shortage of
future farmers

(JSW Foundation adopts Initiatives to make water available for business and
community use are integrated with those to address natural resource management,
climate change, biological diversity, promotion of green belts and livelihood
generation. Source- JSW Foundation)
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•

The shift in the consumer behaviour on the demand
side is unique, the consumption has shifted from

•
•

Circularity is the key
Did we ever imagine that the small plastic bag we

grains to fruits and dairy.

dumped in the wastebasket would be impacting our

Packaged food consumption is rising and supply

water bodies, till the problem manifested by clogging

chains are moving towards more processed foods

all our water bodies?

Producer to Consumer (P2C) platforms are on the

Did we realize that agriculture development will not

rise, especially during the COVID times and this is

happen if watershed management is not in place & that

disrupting the Cooperative –FCI – APMC kind of

wastewater can also be recycled for cultivation?

regulated markets
Interestingly,

while

Circularity in intervention approaches is essential
agricultural

workforce

has

now in any geography that one tackles. The illustration

reduced by 19% during last 10 years, the agricultural

shows how in one of the locations, an integrated

subsidy has gone up by 53% and this indicates the

approach is practiced by JSW Foundation.

disproportionate growth even in the rural sector.
(Source: GOI data)

Circularity is required across types of interventions
too. Simply sustainable farming practices will be
insufficient if sustainable distribution, packaging &

Climate Change

consumption is not propagated simultaneously. The

As per the survey carried out by India Climate

SMART Food Concept by ICRISAT is an example that the

Collaborative (ICC) in 2020, the socio-economic

food produced should meet the livelihoods, nutrition &

indicators ranked for assessing the vulnerability of

environmental challenges at the same time.
To conclude in short, more comprehensive and

communities came as under:
This indicates where the development focus has to

cross-sectoral approaches may be required in the

shift going forward. Some pointers:

development space; connect between stakeholders

•

Increase of 0.5oC expected over by 2030 and 2-4oC

needs to be redefined and reimagined and even

by the end of century, likely to turn a number of

policy advocacy has to be aligned keeping in mind

paddy varieties in North-East unviable for cultivation

the megatrends and the circularity of issues and their

64% districts of India have faced ground water

solutions.

•

depletion between 2002 to 2016. (GOI)
•

CRIDA estimates: essential staple crops likely to lose
yields by 6-10% by 2030

•

Average per capita water availability continues to
decline (5000 m3 (950); 1545 m3 (2011), 1140 m3 by
2050)

•

Advisory services for farmers shifting towards mobilebased technologies to Artificial Intelligence (AI)
based weather advisory, disease control, and crop
planning. All this is to meet the demands of the
changing times rendering the traditional knowledge
less useful

Dependence of
income on climate &
environment - 43%
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Critical
infrastructure &
Income variability
19% each

Sensitivity to
social nets 7%

Population density,
Gender Equality &
Literacy 4% each

8.2

Building Institutions for Resilience and Recovery
- C. Shambu Prasad, Professor, IRMA &
- Parthasarathy Thiruvenkadam, CEO Skillgreen Global

About the authors:
Professor C. Shambu Prasad, IRMA specializes in Strategic
Management and social sciences. His current areas of interest
are Managing Public systems, innovation management, social
entrepreneurship, social innovation, producer collectives, rural livelihoods,
Science Technology and Society (STS) studies, agro ecology, sustainable
agriculture, networks and entrepreneurial ecosystem.
Shri

Parthsarthy-

Rural

Management

Professional

with

strong educational background in engineering and rural
management, with rich experience of over 12 years, mostly in
rural development, which includes design, execution of largescale multiple stakeholder programmes involving Government,
Donors, Banks, Corporates, Farmer Producer Organizations,
and Technical Support Agencies.

As India, and the world, cope with the aftermath of

institutional forms, social enterprises according to some,

the pandemic, early signs are that we will be entering

are expected to transform the way farmers deal with

a more unequal world with loss of jobs and disturbing

the market. While FPOs are ubiquitous, few seem to

reversals of poverty gains of previous years. The Azim

survive and grow.

Premji University’s “State of Working India” report, 2020,
estimated that almost 230 million Indians had fallen
back into poverty. The Indian middle class is estimated

Addressing the last mile connect in the FPO
ecosystem

to have shrunk by 32 million people after the first wave

A survey conducted by the Institute of Rural

of pandemic and lockdowns according to the Pew

Management Anand in July 2020 when the new 10,000

Research Centre. Unemployment in India is estimated

FPO policy was released during the lockdown reiterated

at 14.5% in May 2021 according to CMIE.

the (access to) capital and capability constraints in

Agriculture has been the lone bright spot with a

making FPOs more robust. Are we adding more without

positive growth rate of over 3% as the rest of the economy

looking closely at the health of the institutions already

has shrunk. Beyond the contentious farm laws, there has

created that have been struggling for survival, after

been a silent growth of Farmer Producer Organisations

the initial tranche of support from NABARD or SFAC?

(FPOs) and the latest figures indicate that 6000 FPCs

Many promoting organizations with strong grassroot

were

presence that have helped create the FPO movement

registered

in

2020-2021.

These

democratic
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find themselves out of the ambit of the new policy due

the FPO can sustain even after the project teams move

to high annual turnover entry barriers. Untested ideas

out. An important shift in this is moving from teaching

such as One District One Product (ODOP) are being

BODs and members to empower them to manage

promoted even as experience on the ground indicates

the complexity of objectives and tasks that FPOs need

FPOs need to diversify, especially in rain fed areas, to

today through learning by doing. Through facilitated

better engage with the market and this entails a crop

dialogue, participatory learning platforms can be

mix than a single commodity. Perhaps most critical,

created where the FPOs and the ecosystem players can

and yet less discussed, among the challenges that FPOs

interact openly in an atmosphere of trust and openness.

face is building both capacities and confidence of the

One such initiative that holds promise is the Sashakth

Board of Directors to own, operate and expand these

Kisaan FPO initiative of Skillgreen. Capacity building is

institutions to meet members’ expectations and help

facilitated, rather than taught, through need-based and

realize policy goals like doubling farm incomes.

customized participatory learning events. Drawing from

The FPO operates in an ecosystem where critical

the open-source training manual released in March

technical, marketing, and financial linkages are offered

2019 Skillgreen encourages trainers to ask the right

by various service providers, support agencies, and

questions and encourage participants (FPO directors/

promoting organizations. How does one strengthen

staff / promoting organization staff) to find the answers

these links between the FPOs and the ecosystem, that

jointly.

shift the balance of control in favour of the farmers?

While there is a plethora of training programs, few

How do we ensure significant value add over the

anticipate and plan for the range of practical issues

conventional system, where the trader/input dealer

in the running of an FPO. Co-owning the problems of

often has almost monopolistic control in interlocked

participants is critical even before training is begun. A

agricultural markets? For an FPO to fulfil its purpose it

CEO has to deal with tax notices, BODs signing off on

must function like an agri-business company and think

corporate-like balance sheets, high expectations on

like a start-up even as it maintains member trust and

FPO from members on markets are some of the issues

allegiance among members. Designing institutions

that come up in the day-to-day functioning. Customized

with greater member ownership, Sashakth Kisan, in the

solutions require more than subject or domain expertise.

functioning of the FPO is critical for long-term sustenance

A conservative estimate would suggest that a network

beyond the project period.

of at least 500-1000 local trainers familiar with local
language and culture, is critical to overcoming the skill

Sashakth Kisaan: Skilling FPOs towards Sustainability

gap and last-mile connect in the ecosystem.

Promoters of FPOs today need to see themselves
as new generation spearhead teams, akin to those
created by NDDB and captured in the film Manthan,
who create systems that the internal stakeholders of

Ongoing FPO meeting

54

Building the FPO Ecosystem

Beyond binaries through facilitation

As FPOs mature and engage with markets more it is

Community engagement and expert/technical/

important to develop a core team within the FPO that is

ecosystem services are not separate and exclusive of

strengthened and motivated to drive the FPO on their

each other. Farmers have rich experiences, and there

own. Increasing evidence from the field suggests that

is a need for two-way dialogue that connects their

those who are interested in the success of the FPOs must

experiences with the new learnings required to run

commit to, and invest significantly in, building capacities

an FPO. There is a mind-set that FPOs are community

of a core team within the FPO, that works with the FPO

institutions meant for welfare and not for profit. But the

for a few years, to sustain business growth. Unlike the

reality is that the FPO needs to be competitive to sustain

earlier SHG movement where the market interface and

itself in the market. This requires a professional and

complexity of operations were less, for FPOs it is important

business-like approach that looks critically at margins,

to innovate and pilot initiatives on market linkages and

keeping customers happy and taking calculated

value addition with necessary risk capital or funds. FPO

risks. There are notions that we collectively need to

training should be partnering with local agriculture skill-

overcome, as we attempt to bridge the two worlds of

building agencies, (such as Green Colleges, Agri-Clinics,

community and enterprise. In the words of Dr. Verghese

Agriculture training centres), in close coordination with

Kurien, whose birth centenary is being celebrated

Agriculture Research and Extension agencies such as

this year, “India’s place in the sun would come from

KVKs and line departments. Likewise, agencies in its

the partnership between wisdom of its rural people

ecosystem with relevant experience, expertise, and

and skill of its professionals” - FPOs can succeed only

long-term focus for financial and market linkages,

by integrating professional support with community

can become partners. For FPO executives, business

wisdom.

incubation programmes (such as Skillgreen’s Fast Track,
ALC’s mini MBA, APMAS’s Self Learning Modules) can be
used to enable the executives to work on these business
ideas systematically with the support of mentors and
facilitators.

(In rural India, smartphones and cheap data are giving
women farmers a voice)

(Small and marginal farmers realizing benefits of
beekeeping on a commercial scale through the Farmer
Producer Organization (FPO))

55

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2020-21

8.3

Perspective and action points: Rural Development Projects in a
post-Covid World
- Girish Sohani, Principal Advisor and Trustee, BAIF Development
Research Foundation

About the author:
Shri

Girish

Sohani

(IIT,Mumbai

and

IIM,Ahmedabad) is currently the Principal Advisor
and Trustee of BAIF Development Research
Foundation working with over 5 million families
in 12 states of India. He has over 40 years’ experience in NRM and
Rural livelihoods. Additionally, he has served as an expert on various
Committees of State and Central Government, NABARD, National
and International Agencies.
Shri Sohani is one of the most accomplished professionals in India’s
development eco-space and has presented his thoughts and
papers both nationally and internationally.

Backdrop

BAIF

experience

over

many

decades

of

Pandemics of the type of Covid-19 are expected

implementation of integrated programmes pointed

to recur. This is partly due to the fall-out of a massive

out that economic development activity does not

environmental degradation that is pushing out a

automatically translate into health impact unless

multitude of pathogens from the wild into alternate

dovetailed with an environmentally sound programme

hosts such as human beings and domestic animals,

design and simple health-oriented interventions: health

and in part, it is the result of the manifestation of

awareness,

behavioural

uncontrolled disease conditions caused by an innate

preventive

and

reduction in the immunity within these alternate hosts

(nutrition gardens, potable drinking water, sanitation,

– this in turn resulting from poor nutrition, neglect of

vaccinations, antenatal and early-childhood care; etc).

the microbiome, and the substitution of holistic health

These cost a tiny fraction of the outlay for an economic

thinking by a fragmentation of the health concept and

development program but provide manifold benefits.

a fragmentation of the development concept.

change

promotive

communication;

health

interventions

It is necessary to understand that under-development
and poverty represents a pattern (encompassing
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Perspectives for the Future

poverty – economic as well as environmental, as well

The way forward thus has to be a movement towards

as poor health, poor knowledge/resource illiteracy,

relevant health outcomes as an inherent goal of any

and so on) and unsustainable development outcomes

development action – even economic development;

result from solving for a fragmented problem, rather

and the concept of health being expanded to ‘One

than Solving for Pattern – as very aptly presented by

Health’ which encompasses the health of human

Wendell Berry. As well pointed out by him, the outcome

beings, animals, and ecosystems.

of any good solution which is ‘Solving for Pattern’ is

the improved health of humans and the environment.

Thus, a post-Covid development program will

(Solving for Pattern – Wendell Berry: from ‘The Gift of

need to have the following five-pronged design and

Good Land: Further Essays Cultural and Agricultural’;

implementation approach:

originally published by The Rodale Press)

•

Embedded Components for promoting nutrition,
potable water, and sanitation,

•

Action Leads
the development experience of the Wadi programme

•

•

•
•

Women empowerment through promotion of thrift

Promoting

Green

Livelihoods

through

service

providers and enterprise promotion.

Measures to improve quality of life such as preventive
health care and sanitation;

•

Livestock development components bringing in
climate resilience and improved nutrition,

for tribal development, the TDF guidelines enshrined the
following key components in the Wadi programme:

Embedded components for soil health restoration
and environment soundness,

NABARD took a revolutionary step when – based on

Strong thrust on ICT applications to develop a
knowledge-based circular economy.

groups, drudgery reduction, income generation

All these can be introduced in a very cost-effective

activities, enabling the participation of women in

manner in every development programme. Such a

institutions, etc.

holistic approach will help to bring about a paradigm

These provisions now need to be emphasized in spirit

shift in development programme approaches, make

than in letter alone. Thus, each development project

them more holistic, and generate outcomes beyond

within the ambit of NABARD needs to have embedded

short-term economic development.

components for:
•

Nutrition gardens and nutrition awareness

•

Potable water provision, along with water for other
uses such as irrigation

•

Health

awareness,

behavioural

change

communication, and Diagnostic Health measures
•

Soil health improvement with local recycling of land
nutrients

•

Livestock

based

programmes

(providing

both

climate-resilient livelihoods as well as nutrition)
Each of these activities has built within them some
scope for creating numerous Green Livelihoods in terms
of backward and forward linkages, service providers,
CRPs and technicians, ICT-based services for knowledge
dissemination, diagnostics and telemedicine; improved
production technologies such as poly-houses and
hydroponics; and a host of other enterprise ideas.

(BAIF is promoting technology through production and
extension with support from corporates and NABARD,
Source: BAIF)

(In the post COVID world, focus should be on developing sustainable livelihoods by applying technology
and research to farming, source: BAIF)
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8.4

Multi-stakeholder and technology changing the face of rural
India
- Jagannatha Kumar, CEO, Reliance Foundation

About the author:
Shri. Jagganatha Kumar is an accomplished
executive with demonstrated experience in
Leadership roles. He has over three decades
of experience in development sector, strategy,
planning, new and strategic initiatives, global
finance and investments, project and structured finance, venture
capital, mergers and acquisitions and corporate governance. He
has been in various leadership positions at Reliance since 2000.
He has lead development initiatives of Reliance in his role as CEO
of Reliance foundation. He is an advanced leadership fellow of
Harvard University and holds an MBA degree from Indian Institute of
Management, Bangalore.

The heart of our country’s development lies in its

RF initiated its Rural Transformation program over

rural areas, with agriculture and allied sectors as the

ten years ago with an intent to address the challenges

primary sources of livelihood. However, India’s rural

with replicable and scalable models. RF was able to use

households lack significantly on economic and social

the business expertise of the Reliance group, especially

indicators compared to their urban counterparts. This

with regard to technology, innovation, and digital

points to a pressing need for a far greater focus on

connectivity. RF adopted a partnership approach-

rural development for India’s equitable growth. Several

learning from and sharing with rural communities, service

flagship missions initiated by the Government of India

delivery agencies, non-governmental organizations,

aim to address just these inequities – whether it is social

and government departments.

infrastructure or economic benefits.
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Steps towards rural transformation

villages. Over 66% of India’s population still lives in

It was indeed a transformational journey for the

Recognising the need to address this gap and

communities RF worked with, as they realized the

improve the lives and livelihoods of the rural households,

potential that agriculture as a source of livelihood

Reliance embarked on the journey to bring innovation

could offer, instead of it being the last resort. They were

and adopt a holistic approach to develop models of

encouraged by the results they saw in a short period,

development that bring growth, sustainability, and

not just in the income of the individual households

resilience. The work of Reliance Foundation (RF) is

but also in the collective well-being. The underlying

guided by the drive and the mission of ‘putting people

foundation for this change was the engagement of the

first’ that Reliance used across all its businesses and

communities in a collective way and creating a sense

initiatives.

of ownership in shaping their own future. RF also proved

to bring resilience in times of disasters, whether they be
natural disasters or pandemics like COVID-19.

Approach to development
Reliance

Foundation

brought

to

community

In the canvas of national priorities and global

development the essential Reliance culture of efficient

goals, RF’s principle was to partner, support, and fill

resource use and maximum impact, with efforts to

gaps with the skills wherever needed. RF adopted a

take innovations to scale. It was, however, a complex

holistic approach to address development concerns

exercise since it inculcated a process of learning and

across multiple aspects, including

unlearning to fine-tune models and

livelihoods,

innovations that could work in the

water,

nutrition,

women’s empowerment, markets,
and

knowledge

access.

Self-

reliance and realizing the full value
for what they do is essential to their
empowerment.
now

The

experience

communities

this

sense

of

empowerment as they continue
to be open to adopting the best
practices and innovations. Covid-19
pandemic

took

their

resolve

to a different level in adopting
technology and mechanization at
an accelerated pace through the
value chain. Offering solutions that
are dynamic with the context and
guiding them along the way has
been a fulfilling journey for RF too.

“RF has been
able to impact
the lives and
livelihoods of over
12 million people
in the 10 years of

social context. Businesses address
VUCA

(volatility,

complexity,

and

uncertainty,
ambiguity)

on

a day-to-day basis. It gets more
challenging when we deal with
these in the social context and that
too in diverse situations and evolving
social dynamics that are not guided
by formal organizational frameworks
as they exist in businesses.
Reliance partnered with and
co-opted

various

organizations

its journey in Rural

in this journey and created an

Transformation”

of the rural communities. Its digital

ecosystem to address the needs
platform addresses not just the
asymmetry in information but also
enables a dynamic approach to

solutions. It connects the laboratories to the land, land
to the laboratories, land to land, and laboratories to
laboratories. This is a platform that truly democratizes
information for the individual as well as the common
good. It offers the opportunity to integrate the
practitioners with the administrations as well as the
researchers. Overlaid with the institutional capabilities
(Multiple-level engagements helping enhance women’s development and supporting broad sustainable social change,
source- Reliance Foundation)
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at the grassroot level, whether Gram Panchayats or

India Jodo program, the social return was Rs 10.66.

various Community-Based Organizations, this offers the

The evaluation also found that 93% of beneficiaries

potential for a network effect that has been realized by

experienced an increase in access to water resources;

RF in a short time.

92% experienced benefits from sustainable agricultural
practices; while 83% saw gains from agricultural produce

Solutions for development impact: Key learnings

sale through Farmer Producer Organisations (FPOs) that

Reliance worked closely with the communities to

were created by the producers and mentored by RF as

co-create solutions to the challenges they face. The

a part of the program.

Holiya, for instance, an innovative water harvesting
technique in the arid Kutch region of Gujarat, was a

Reliance Foundation and NABARD

need-based, participatory localized solution to meet

Large-scale transformation in the rural economy is

the water security of the community through the revival

best achieved through a 4P approach- Public, Private,

of a traditional system.

and People Participation. NABARD, the apex institution

Another approach, the use of Ferro Cement

for agriculture and rural development in India, is an

technology for water structures, brought down cost to

essential part of the ecosystem to make such an

half of the conventional RCC dams and were far more

approach work. NABARD has been a significant partner

efficient as water structures. This helped make water

for RF in taking this approach forward. It is a multifaceted

harvesting accessible to all.

partnership with the engagement across different areas

RF designed a circular Reliance Nutrition Garden
(RNG)

model.

This

helped

increase

of work of RF like Integrated Watershed Management,

vegetable

supporting the FPOs in strengthening their capacities

production and improve the balanced intake of meals

for further value addition or accessing markets and

in rural communities. Independent evaluation indicated

addressing information asymmetry for empowering and

that this garden met 62% of the household vegetable

improving the livelihoods of the rural communities.

consumption against just 11% in the control group with
a kitchen garden.
The evidence from work demonstrates the success
of the models for further replication and scaling up.

Multi-stakeholder partnerships combined with the
use of technology are essential for accelerating largescale transformation in the lives of rural communities
and bridging the inequities across the economy.

An independent study identified that for every rupee
invested in rural development initiatives of the RF Bharat

As on Mar 2021, nearly 112 billion liters of water harvesting
capacity has been created by constructing or renovating
water harvesting structures, source- Reliance Foundation
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Reliance Foundation works with small and marginal
farmers to ensure food security in rural households,
source- Reliance Foundation

8.5

Microfinance and Inclusive Growth
- Jiji Mammen, MD, NABFINS Ltd

About the author:
Shri. Jiji Mammen is Managing Director of NABFINS.
Prior to his posting with NABFINS, he was the country
head of Department of Refinance, NABARD. A postgraduate from the Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, and a
Certified Associate of Indian Institute of Banking and Finance (IIBF), he also
holds a degree in law from Kerala University.
In a career spanning over three decades, he has served in 8 states in different
capacities. He has headed NABARD regional offices of Manipur, Rajasthan,
Hyderabad & Telangana. Shri Jiji Mammen has an affinity for training and
was a Faculty Member in Bankers Institute of Rural Development, Mangaluru.

The push towards financial inclusion is due to the

practical difficulties arising out of their traditional ‘brick

realization that financial services could enable the

and mortar’ mode of operation and their expectation of

poor and the vulnerable for accelerating the process of

a stable income as a basic premise for a borrower to be

their building incomes, assets, and economic security.

‘financial service’ worthy. Contrary to this presumption,

The efforts for financial inclusion i.e. providing financial

most of the business units in the country, which is nearly

services to poor and weaker sections could be traced

7 million, forming more than 95% MSMSE sector, is in the

back to the beginning of the 20th century when the

informal sector and the nature of the employment and

Cooperative Societies Act was passed in India. The

income of these self-employed households is not stable,

efforts became stronger after Independence with the

regardless of its size. This apart, more than 140 million

nationalization of banks, introduction of Lead bank

farmers in the country also are in the informal sector

scheme, opening up of Regional Rural banks, etc. But

of which nearly 86% are marginal and small farmers.

these efforts could not achieve the goal of bringing

To address the needs of a large number of small and

all the people under the umbrella of formal financial

micro enterprises, which needed only small loans,

institutions and a majority of the people had to depend

the conventional formal lenders were not ready. They

on the informal agencies for meeting their financial

preferred dealing with large loans in small numbers to a

(credit) needs.

large number of small loans to minimize administration

The ‘out of box’ thinking on financial inclusion started

costs. These sections also do not possess any assets

with the realization that the conventional financial

which can act as collateral and due to the inherent

institutions could not reach the ‘needy’ due to the

nature, impose high information and monitoring cost.
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It is in this context, the concept of Self-Help Groups,

Changing face of Microfinance

pioneered by NABARD in India, has, gained relevance.

Microfinance is traditionally a high touch point

Since its successful pilot in 1987, along with MYRADA, an

business. The process involved is human-intensive with

NGO based near Mysore, the idea of a group-based

lots of paperwork. The funds’ transactions were also

lending approach with the backing of social collateral

in physical cash causing a huge risk to the persons

of peer pressure, has successfully demonstrated that

engaged and the institution providing the credit.

the Poor are bankable. Seeing the success of the SHG

The development of technology has changed the

Bank linkage programme, the private initiatives in the

face of microfinance with more efficiency and quicker

form of microfinance Companies were started in early

decisions. The change in the operating environment, be

2000, which funded small groups of borrowers as Joint

it in the form of a push for financial inclusion through Jan

Liability Groups

Dhan, the telecom revolution making the smartphones

The growth of microcredit through the banks and

reach the rural hinterland, the increased penetration of

microfinance institutions over the last 2 to 3 decades

internet connectivity in the rural areas, the availability

only proves that, when given access to responsive and

of the National Identity through Aadhar, changes in

timely financial services, even at market costs, these

the payment system and the private players’ interest in

bottom of the pyramid borrowers,
use the proceeds to increase their
income and assets and repay their
loans on time. It also demonstrates
that these micro loans can be
profitable for both the borrowers and
the lenders, making microfinance
one of the most effective povertyreducing strategies. As a result of
the same, today we have nearly 50
million small borrowers funded close
to Rupees 2.80 trillion by Banks, MFIs,
and NBFCs using SHGs and JLGs as
the medium.

the digital payment-systems have

India’s microfinance

further changed the landscape in
which financial service providers are
operating.

sector grew 17%

While

the

technology

year-on-year to Rs

returns

are

from

investments

in

expensive,

the

such

significantly

investments

2.48 lakh crore by

are

the end of March

operational efficiency and reduce

2021, braving the

cost of delivery of services and risk

technologies

high

costs.

8

8 https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/economy/finance/microfinance-sector-battles-coronavirus-pandemic-to-grow-17-year-on-year/articleshow/83033471.cms
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these
the

not only the credit cost but also the

pandemic and
business disruptions

as

increase

NABFINS and microfinance

Way forward

NABARD being an Apex Bank playing a policy-

It has been established by now that microfinance

making role, has been at the forefront in financial

plays an important role in the inclusive development

inclusion. To get a hands-on experience of financial

of our country. That is why RBI has recognized these

inclusion and customer lending directly, it promoted

institutions with supportive policy initiatives. When the

a subsidiary called NABARD Financial Services Ltd or

Government of India started the Pradhan Mantri Mudra

NABFINS Ltd, as it is known today, which is an NBFC MFI

Yojana, a major initiative for extending small loans

registered with RBI. The Company is jointly promoted

to micro enterprises, MFIs were taken as one of the

by NABARD, the Government of Karnataka, and some

partner institutions in providing the credit. RBI has also

other banks like Canara Bank, Union Bank of India,

recognized two of its Associations viz. MFIN and SaDhan

etc. The Company has been able to finance the poor

and appointed them as Self-Regulatory Organisations.

directly through SHG as well as JLG mode to meet

The very fact that 9 of the 10 Small Finance Banks

their credit needs. While SHGs were financed through

licensed by RBI in 2015 were MFIs also underlines the role

partnership mode by using them as BCs and BFs, the

played by MFIs in the financial inclusion in our country.

JLGs are financed directly through its branches. This has

Going forward, the MFIs have to remodel themselves

helped in serving nearly 7 lakh poor people with Rs 16

to the needs and aspirations of the individuals. The group

billion loans in 16 States across the country. This apart,

mode of lending, in which the product is standardized

NABFINS will help NABARD to have an insight into the

now, needs to change to meet the individual aspirations.

microfinance in the country and also help in policy-level

Over a period of time the group mode of lending has

decision making.

to pave the way to individual lending, which is possible
with the current information technology and information
flow. To begin with, the poor can yield strength through

( Women are slowly climbing out of poverty through credit )
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group mode, which may help them to meet their smaller
loan requirements. However, going forward they need
to find strength in their business and MFIs should also be
able to lend to them based on the individual enterprises.
Microfinance

institutions

need

to

be

more

technology-oriented and regulated to provide better
services to the poor. If the MFIs are allowed to tap the
JAM (Jan Dhan, Aadhar, and Mobile) Trinity, it will go a
long way in better and quicker services.
MFI as a medium of inclusive development needs
to be recognized at all levels and all possible policy
support needs to be extended by the policy bodies.
Insulating MFIs from external shocks is one such support
needed. Events like the current Covid 19 pandemic, or
demonetization or legislation of Microfinance Act like in
Andhra Pradesh and Assam or even a smaller event like
interference by an influential person in a region against
repayment, etc. can cause havoc to these institutions.
It is, therefore, necessary to give comfort against such
impact, to keep these institutions in the pink of health
and play their role efficiently.
Let’s champion MFIs as the vehicle of inclusion and
development!!

Worldwide, microfinance loans serve almost 20 million people living in poverty. 74% of these clients are women.
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8.6

The Promise of Commons
- Jagdeesh Rao, Curator, Foundation for Ecological Security

About the author:
A practitioner from the very beginning, Jagdeesh’s
35-year professional engagement has been on
interrelated issues of poverty and environmental
degradation and on ‘systems thinking’ at the interface
of ecology, society and economy.
Jagdeesh has been the Chief Executive of Foundation
for Ecological Security (FES) since its inception in 2001 till July 2020. As the
‘Anchor and Curator’ at FES, he has now taken on the responsibilities of
influencing policy, advancing knowledge generation and exchange and
constituency building for the Promise of Commons initiative that aims to
improve the governance and management of 30 million acres of village
commons in India.
Jagdeesh has been conferred the ‘Skoll Award for Social Entrepreneurship’
in 2015. He is also a Rainer Arnhold (Mulago) Conservation Fellow (2017) and
Senior Ashoka Fellow (2020).

A quarter of India’s landmass, 205 million acres, is

Nonetheless,

Commons

face

widespread

covered by community forests, pastures, and water

degradation, leading to falling agricultural yields,

bodies - collectively, the Commons. For many in rural

increased costs of cultivation, depleted water tables,

areas, women, in particular, these Commons help meet

shrinking forests, and degradation of pastures. These

basic needs of food, fodder, medicine, firewood, and

contribute significantly to declining rural incomes,

timber. In addition, a wide range of non-timber forest

growing inequality, and distress migration, all the while

produce contributes to a significant portion of the

placing an additional burden on women.

cash earnings for forest dwellers. The estimated total

The Panchayati Raj Act, Panchayat Extension to

economic value of such products in India is USD 99 billion

Scheduled Areas Act (PESA), and Forest Rights Act (FRA)

annually. Ecologically healthy Commons also provide

have created an enabling legal and policy context

critical ecosystem services - surface and groundwater,

for community-led Commons restoration. The 2011

soil nutrients, pollination, and pest control - that are vital

Supreme Court judgment on Commons directs the

for the viability, resilience, and growth of their farms and

States to protect and restore Commons. Annually, an

livelihoods, all the more so in the face of an unfolding

amount of about USD 5 billion is made available by the

climate crisis.

governments through the Mahatma Gandhi National
Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA) for the
restoration of natural resources.
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While there are supportive policies and public
investments, efforts on the ground to reverse the
neglect of Commons have been limited, scattered,
and lacked the imagination to leverage the full
reach of government and other diverse actors.
Lack of convergence in planning and action, weak
implementation capacity, poor alignment amongst
bureaucratic departments (and other actors), and
weak accountability characterize the barriers.
India’s ambitious commitment towards doubling
farmer’s income, arresting land degradation, carbon
sequestration, and achieving Sustainable Development
Goals

provides

immense

opportunity

to

embed

Commons as a promising solution in government
programmes.

Demonstrating

how

community-led

Commons restoration supports national and state
commitments can help leverage existing government
programmes, shift incentives, motivation, and narratives
that undervalue these natural resources.
By positioning 1) increased water availability as the
objective of Commons restoration; 2) forests, pastures,

Empowering 16
million lives, by
restoring 9.12 million
acres of Commons
through 30,251
village institutions

and water bodies as durable community assets
developed by MGNREGA, Watershed, and other public
funds; and 3) Panchayats as custodians of Commons,
there is a clear and present opportunity for alignment

FES is committed to strengthen, revive, and restore the process of ecological succession and the conservation
of land, forest, and water resources in the country
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between legal mandate, policy intent, local capacity,

lessons, rigor, and build evidence for work on Commons.

and most importantly, agency and leadership of local

A robust ‘guided mentoring platform’ is helping local

communities.

communities, NGOs, and government functionaries
and

enhance capacities for inclusive, data-based decision-

governance of Commons is an unparalleled opportunity

making for Commons restoration. Integration of tech

to secure massive gains in rural incomes and inclusion of

solutions in the interface with functionaries is helping

women while delivering ecological dividends. Towards

increase the reach, efficiency, and effectiveness of local

this, FES, established in 2001, is working to enable rural

planning and investment. FES aims to remain nimble

communities to legally access their Commons, prepare

and draw on the strengths of various organizations in

resource management plans, and access public

the ecosystem in bringing about a non-linear increase

investments for Commons restoration.

in its reach and influence.

Investing

in

community-led

management

Currently, FES together with 83 NGO partners is

Under the Promise of Commons initiative, over the

working with 35,280 habitations reaching 16.6 million

next five years, we aim to reach 38 million rural people

rural people. FES has established partnerships with 8

across 130,000 habitations, ensuring secured community

government programmes across 5 States to accelerate

rights on 30 million acres of common lands (constituting

action on the ground. Partnerships with 25 international

around 15% of total Commons in India).

and national think tanks and academic/ research
bodies are in place to generate knowledge, exchange

(Source- FES)
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To achieve these outcomes and build the foundation

to increase the effectiveness of local action; engage

for an enduring long-term change, the Promise of

policy stakeholders to recognize and promote the

Commons initiative is pursuing two strategic pathways

economic and ecological rationale for investment in

that mutually reinforce one another:

the Commons, and strengthen legal and regulatory

•

Scaling the Core Model at block and district

incentives for compliance and enforcement, so

levels through efforts to build inclusive multi-actor

that local restoration and livelihood initiatives can

platforms; strengthen the capacity of these actors in

succeed.

ways that enhance integrated planning and action;

To achieve the above, there is a need to bring

demonstrate the effectiveness of local market

alignment between legal mandate, policy intent, local

and institutional innovations; and support local

capacity, and, most importantly, village-level agency

networks to reinforce social inclusion and hold state

and leadership. It necessitates actors working in silos

and private sector actors accountable in line with

starting to work together, and building national and sub-

existing laws and programmes.

national support for the cause at various levels. The work

Strengthening the enabling environment at the state

takes years, if not decades, of constant engagement

and national levels, through efforts to build coalitions

but it is required to be done and done with intentionality

among champions in government, CSOs, think tanks,

at that. Though strategies may require continuous

and other key influencers; create public assets such

improvisation and improvement, the principles of our

as tools, curricula, data, and information platforms

work remain the same.

•

FES is a pioneering advocate of the commons in India, especially on behalf of the poor, source- FES
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8.7

The organic ties between NABCONS and rural development
- K. Venkateswara Rao, Managing Director, NABCONSa

About the author:
Shri. K. Venkateswara Rao is the Managing
Director of NABARD Consultancy Services Private
Ltd. (NABCONS). Prior to his appointment as
CGM, he was heading the Farm Sector Policy
Department

in

NABARD,

steering

designing

policies for development projects in the farm sector and climate
change initiatives of NABARD. Shri Rao comes with an impeccable
record of having taken up multiple responsibilities in his illustrious
career of over three decades which includes international exposure
to climate related policy framework, cooperatives and micro
finance. Shri Rao, is a Post-Graduate from Indian Agricultural
Research Institute (IARI), New Delhi in the year 1985.
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NABCONS, a wholly-owned auxiliary of NABARD,

Over the years, NABCONS has involved itself in

is India’s premier consultancy and advisory service

developing agriculture, such as the production of crops

provider that addresses the needs and gaps in

and its productivity, i.e., the growth and production of

agriculture and allied sectors within and outside the

the crop which is to be consumed and the crop yield

borders of the country. The company was set up in 2003

gained within the given measure of field, respectively.

by NABARD and has completed its journey of 18 years in

We

the field of agriculture and rural development in India.

cultivation to increase crop yield, seed production and

We believe that for a developing country like India, with

productivity, organic cultivation, vermin culture, and

a significant portion of its rural populace dependent

other aspects of agricultural practices. Furthermore,

on agricultural and farm-related activities, the two

we continuously strive to play a role by expanding our

cornerstones of prominent growth are ‘Agriculture’ and

support in livelihood areas such as animal husbandry,

‘Rural Development.’ Therefore, NABCONS, since the

poultry, horticulture and plantation, fisheries, and other

very beginning, has worked towards focusing its services

allied sectors.

also

draw

our

attention

towards

intensive

in sectors like water, food, skill sector, forests, climate,

Besides agriculture, NABCONS also believes that

Animal husbandry, and agriculture. Moving ahead

water is another crucial factor that needs urgent

with the motto- ‘Wisdom Beyond Business,’ NABCONS’

attention. Therefore, we have been working in the

remarkable nationwide outreach testifies its years of

area of water conservation to improve the existing

enriched experience and expertise in the consultancy

policies and strategies for developing sustainable water

ecosystem.

resources. Apart from this, development of watersheds,

irrigation networks, irrigation mechanisms, and other

•

Construction of compound wall and kitchen cum

water conservation measures are also some crucial

dining unit in Colony Primary School, Digapahandi,

grounds that are being covered.

Ganjam, Odisha has helped the students of the
school.

While working on factors such as agriculture and
environment protection, NABCONS has also ensured

•

Installation of 10 KW Solar Power Plant at Rashtriya

stress on infrastructure enhancement. Simultaneously,

Inter College, Shahpur, Muzaffarnagar, UP has

planning and implementing village and community

helped the rural students and the college staff in
their endeavors.

developmental projects, undertaking activities related
to organizing self-help groups, microcredit institutions,

•

Solar lanterns to 317 artisans of Bandipura, Baramulla,

microcredit planning, and women empowerment are

Jammu & Kashmir has helped the artisans to improve

few other areas where the organization is putting its

their productivity in weaving the carpets and other
works.

efforts to transform.
As a consultancy and advisory service provider, we

•

Vocational training for students from remote/tribal

believe that our responsibility is not limited to economic

areas of Gujarat through Mobile Educational Van,

advancement and expansion but is extended to the

aimed at providing vocational training to students

holistic development of the community itself. Our focus

from remote areas of Gujarat through Mobile

under CSR has been a testimony to this belief system.

Educational Van.

We have endorsed 22 projects since 2014-15. These
programmes have covered a vast array of themes.
Women

empowerment,

rural

education,

poverty

alleviation, and environmental sustainability have been
the main themes. Alongside, we have encouraged skill
development for women, safe drinking water, health
care and sanitation, tribal development, and marketing
infrastructure in rural areas. These projects have also
encouraged innovations in agriculture. A brief outline of
some of the major CSR projects of NABCONS is as under:
•

Solar Powered Street Lights at Jhajjar, Haryana:
Installation of 70 such streetlights has eased out the
lifestyle of the villagers, reduced theft, etc.

“The share of agriculture
in GDP increased to
19.9 per cent in 202021 from 17.8 per cent in
2019-20. The last time
the contribution of the
agriculture sector in
GDP was at 20 per cent
was in 2003-04”
(Economic Survey- 2020-21)
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CSR Projects/ contribution during 2020-21
•

•

•

Zero

Energy

from project evaluation to successful implementation

successfully established a ‘Zero Energy Storage’

and assessment. It is also closely working with its sister

in Tuensang, as a pilot to serve as an alternative

concern, NABFOUNDATION, to promote CSR initiatives

storage facility for power deficit rural areas. The

throughout the nation. Simultaneously, we are also

storage facility is operational and is put under trial

providing our support to the country in the ongoing

from March 2021.

battle against the COVID-19 pandemic in every possible

livelihood

pilot

Project,

NABCONS has a robust process in place, right

Nagaland-

Promoting

Storage

enhancement,

paving

sphere.

block manufacturing unit, Jhansi- The project

Going ahead, I believe that the only sustainable

aims at livelihood enhancement of the shahariya

solution to the many challenges faced by our nation

community in Bangra Block of Jhansi district, UP. This

is the coming together of multiple partners and

project is expected to conclude in the near future.

stakeholders with a desire to make an impact. This

Installation of 10 KW Solar Power Plant and 1500

would mean higher levels of coordination and data

Ltrs per day capacity solar water heater for rural

sharing. And above all, a shared vision of a better and

students at Rashtriya College, Muzaffarnagar at

more prosperous rural India.

Shahpur Block
•

Completion of Farm Based Livelihood Education and
Learning School (Meghalaya) –This project has been
implemented with the support of NABFOUNDATION.
The projects aims at imparting livelihood education
and training in Samin Rongalgre village under
Songsak block in East Garo Hills district, Meghalaya.
The project has been completed and is running
successfully.
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Livestock Centre set up under CSR initiatives with
NABFOUNDATION

Demonstration Units of Azolla Green Fodder, Alwar,
Rajasthan to improve milk production and animal health
by demonstrating Azolla green fodder units and create
awareness among the dairy farmers about Azolla to
improve their economy by enhancing milking capacity

Integrated Development of Vanachal Village, Karnataka
– This project aimed at redevelopment of Vanachal
Village as a model village in flood affected areas of
Kodagu District, Karnataka. Solarization and Bee Boxes
were the components that were provided to the villagers.
The project has been completed and is benefitting the
villagers

Shrimad Rajchandra Education on wheels - NABCONS CSR Initiative
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8.8

A framework for working with Adolescents
- Mathew Joseph, Country Director, American India Foundation

About the author:
Shri Mathew Joseph is the Country Director of the
American India Foundation (AIF) based at New
Delhi. He oversees AIF’s India operations across
6 signature programs in 24 states of India. Shri
Mathew has 23 years of experience spanning the
development sector, working with the government
and the private sector, with technical expertise in
advocacy, behavior change communications and social marketing.
He also served as a member of the Board and Managing Director
of Pathfinder International India, a non-profit company registered
in India, and facilitated several CSR partnerships with large Indian
companies.
He holds a Master’s in Business Administration and has worked as the
Creative Director of a reputed advertising agency before finding his
true calling in the development sector - as a leader, fundraiser and
advocate.

In 2019, Dhapu Kumari, a sixteen-year-old shy,

Demographic Dividend Vs Disadvantage

tongue-tied teenager was on the verge of dropping

About 21% of the Indian population consists of

out of school, when American India Foundation’s

adolescents (about 243 million), i.e., every fifth person

(AIF) education intervention for secondary education

is an adolescent (10-19 years)9. However, adolescents

started in her remote desert village of Barmer, district

from low-income and marginal families are at a

in Rajasthan. Today, Dhapu juggles multiple roles with

disadvantage because of restricted access to quality

ease - that of a social worker, a student mentor, and an

health, education, and future opportunities. A high

Adolescent Girls’ group leader. She dreams of becoming

percentage of them drop out of school - boys take up

an engineer. Like Dhapu, many adolescent girls and their

unskilled jobs to supplement the family income and for

families are availing opportunities created through AIF’s

girls, it is the prejudice against educating them, lack of

high-impact interventions. It empowers adolescents

facilities, and the compulsion to participate in household

through an integrated approach of addressing health,

work. Currently, about 45 million children are out-of-

education, nutrition, and employability, and to reap the

school and approximately 16.1% of them fall in the 6-18

demographic dividend.

years age group10. Besides this, educated unemployed
youth in the country is 23.7% of 31 million unemployed
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9

https://india.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/AProfileofAdolescentsandYouthinIndia_0.pdf

10

https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/still-too-many-children-out-of-school/article24857149.ece

youth (15-25 years)11. Early marriage and teenage

A.

pregnancies, combined with low health indicators

		 AIF’s community-based approach plays a

Community as a basic unit of planning

including anaemia, malnutrition, lack of knowledge

critical role in addressing barriers related to culture,

on sexual and reproductive health, and general lack

religion, ethnicity, gender, language, physical

of agency to resist familial, peer, and societal pressures

ability, intellectual ability, race, socio-economic

put the adolescents at an acute disadvantage. India’s

status, and others. The shared leadership not only

demographic dividend is at a high risk of becoming a

breaks barriers but also enables establishing of an

demographic disadvantage.

equitable and inclusive program on the ground.

A significant 21.7% of the adolescent population

The intervention addresses adolescent girls and

lives in rural areas 12 and it is a formidable challenge for

boys including but not limited to those with learning

the government to address their needs pertaining to

deficits, out of school, specially-abled, migration

health, nutrition, education, and livelihoods. Regional

prone, first-generation learners in poor health

and social gaps in the development negatively

and low nutrition settings. These locations have a

affect adolescent populations the most, as there is no

significant proportion of indigenous populations.

comprehensive program addressing all the needs of

This elicits support from community leaders in

adolescents. In the absence of an unbiased supportive

the remote village, enhances their involvement

environment, this critical segment of the population is

in the program, and “their frequent interaction

highly unlikely to realize its potential.

with beneficiaries of the program also gives them
a firsthand view of its influence, particularly on

How AIF is addressing this issue?

the confidence and communication skills of

Designed with a multi-sectoral and a broader

participating students. This creates a virtuous

multigenerational approach, AIF’s intervention presents

cycle, incrementally increasing community buy-in

an equity and inclusive strategy for adolescents, across

for the program”13.

locations with the most vulnerable, marginalized, and

B.

low-income

		
Engagements

populations.

The

strategy

recognizes

Access to information at an early age
with

the

adolescents,

the diversity of these locations and aims to promote

particularly at the early adolescent level (age-

inclusiveness

and

group 10-14 years) empowers girls by covering

eliminating the biases and barriers that limit adolescents

all the adolescent health problems with special

from

emphasis on issues related to anemia, menstrual

growing

by

understanding,

and

fully

identifying,

contributing

to

society.

American India Foundation’s collaborative approach

hygiene, education, and behavior change.

of partnering with communities, schools, civil societies,

improve the quality of health and education,

and Government, enables it to reach out to adolescents

they must access the relevant information, and

To

across its intervention areas. Intensive investments
through an integrated approach bring synergies to
programming, benefits of scale, replicability, and intergenerational sustainability. Leveraging government
and community structures, AIF addresses the needs of
adolescents comprehensively and reach out to them in
their environment, which facilitates:

“Currently, about 45 million
children are out-of-school
and approximately 16.1%
of them fall in the 6-18
years’ age group”

11

https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/home/education/
news/unemployment-rate-in-india-nearly-31-million-indians-are-jobless/articleshow/63182015.cms

12

https://india.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/3-A%26Y
Profile_RuralUrbanDistribution.pdf

13

PSIPSE, building youth life skills lessons learned on how to design, implement, assess, and scale successful programming Swetha Sridharan, Poonam Ravindranath, Emma Pottinger, and Clemencia Cosentino, Mathematica, June
2019 (http://psipse.org/library), Page 45
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AIF does so by encouraging adolescent girls and

early adolescents (10-14 years) “focused on life

women members from various Self-Help Groups &

skills development to facilitate their transition to

social groups to meet at regular intervals, discuss

secondary school 14”. Evidence of the impact of

their issues, and access & share information to

vocational education in the age group 15-19 has

avail benefits from various government schemes.

a positive bearing on their employability15 and

Awareness generation meetings in coordination

early shaping of the human capital can ensure

with the Anganwadi Centers provide a safe

the country’s economic boost, thus, requiring

environment, where girls are informed about body

implementation

changes during adolescence and other related

schools. A multi-pronged approach involving

health issues. They are also guided on life skills.

quality education, community participation &

		The

formation

of

adolescent

of

skill-based

education

in

groups

monitoring, and empowerment sessions with

creates peer support and enables interaction,

adolescents – both girls and boys, looks at a long-

engagement within the group members. The

term improvement in health, educational, and life

group members from each group decided the time

outcomes.

and venue for group meetings and discussed the

C.

group objectives. As part of the group formation

		 AIF’s

Participation in decision making
interventions

create

a

conducive

activity- the group members shared beliefs,

environment for a discussion on sexual and

principles, and standards about areas of common

reproductive

interest are laid out, and that is how the group

environment to gain life skills. Participation of

members would come together to accomplishing

adolescents in decision-making equips them

group tasks. PSIPSE commissioned study observed

with adequate information and improves agency

that American India Foundation’s work, with

and, which enhances their self-esteem and

issues

and

a

positive

social

The American India Foundation is committed to improving the lives of India’s underprivileged, with a special focus
on women, children, and youth
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PSIPSE, building youth life skills lessons learned on how to design, implement, assess, and scale successful programming Swetha Sridharan, Poonam Ravindranath, Emma Pottinger, and Clemencia Cosentino, Mathematica, June
2019 (http://psipse.org/library)

15

Mahapatra, P. & Satapathy, S. (2016). Skills, Schools and Employability: Developing Skill Based Education in Schools
of India. Journal of Social Sciences, 12(2), 99-104. https://doi.org/10.3844/jssp.2016.99.104

thus positively affects their preparedness for the

D.

future. It creates multiple support mechanism

		

Accountability
AIF’s systems strengthening approach ensures

by associating with various forums such as SHGs,

continuous improvement of Health, Education,

SMC, PRI, Mothers’ Group, across the intervention

and

villages to promote girl child education and

meeting the program’s strategic objectives. The

to gradually work as a support structure for

intervention has adopted indicators, developed

influencing decisions on issues like early marriage,

by the Government of India, to monitor and

school dropout, school management, public

evaluate the progress so that synergies with the

health facilities, and village development. This

government policies are developed. The aim is to

approach is proving beneficial for adolescent

bring about a sustainable change in the society

girls like Malleshwari, an eighteen-year-old from

including parents, community elders, leaders and

Borborivalasa village of Ananthagiri Mandal,

gatekeepers, and institutions, including schools,

Andhra Pradesh.

local government structures, and community

Employability

outcomes

and

enables

		 Another innovative strategy is that of the

health systems. This has the potential to become a

formation of the Boys’ group, which facilitates

template for a nationwide transformation to reap

tailored discussions about gender, fosters self-

the demographic dividend in India.

realization, and builds decision making and goalsetting skills.

Youths play a crucial and substantial role in the development of the nation. They are seen as “vital sources of manpower
for development”
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E.

Overcoming Barriers

Conclusion

		 AIF envisions healthy, educated, and skilled

The American India Foundation is committed to

adolescents who have the agency to make

improving the lives of India’s underprivileged, with

informed and responsible decisions for their lives

a special focus on women, children, and youth.

and livelihoods. However, there are multiple

Adolescents form an important focus group as they

challenges which the organization faces, during

play an essential role in reducing poverty and gender

the

foremost

discriminatory social norms. Over a period of time,

being multiplicity of schemes run by the various

AIF has made considerable investments in health and

departments. This requires linking marginalized

education, thus creating pathways for adolescents

adolescents with Government schemes (ICDS) &

and bringing about a long-term systemic change.

departments (Education, horticulture, Agriculture)

Creating an enabling environment for adolescent

for improving overall welfare.

wellbeing through multi-sectoral response will generate

implementation.

The

first

and

Secondly, the persisting social biases and non-

opportunities for growth that support adolescents, and

availability of supportive mechanism are still forcing

especially girls to overcome the inter-generational cycle

girls

married

of malnutrition, gender-based discrimination, and lack

Overcoming these biases requires a bottom-

of access to resources as well as most basic health care.

to

early.

discontinue

education

and

get

up approach, and demonstrates the efficacy of an
integrated approach in the holistic development of
adolescents.
The current pandemic situation also poses multiple
threats to adolescent girls and without a comprehensive
approach, they might succumb to one or another
social or economic pressure. Therefore, to achieve
greater impact, AIF is focusing on the digitization of
sexual reproductive health knowledge and services
in

early

adolescence,

partnership

with

schools

and communities, and collaborations for systemic
transformation. This is expected to:
•

Help in the adoption of a bottom-up approach,
the proposed solution will

demonstrate the

efficacy of an integrated approach in the holistic
development of adolescents.
•

Improve access and capacity of adolescents to use
digital platforms for educational improvements,

•

Increase knowledge, access to and use of
evidence-based, quality SRH information,

•

Empower adolescent girls and boys, who have
improved agency and decision-making ability to
enhance their education, reproductive health;
especially to delay their marriage

Malleshwari discontinued her
studies after Grade 10 and is
now working as an agricultural
labourer. She has been using an
old cloth during her menstrual
cycles and often suffered from
infections and discomfort.
AIF’s MANSI health facilitator
introduced her to sanitary pads
and also motivated Malleshwari
and today, she saves money
to by sanitary napkins. Also,
along with the other adolescent
girls, Malleshwari constructs
incinerators for safe disposal of
used sanitary pads.
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8.9

SBI Youth for India fellowship: A platform for young change
makers
- Nixon Joseph, President and COO, SBI Foundation

About the author:
Shri. Nixon Joseph is the President and Chief
Operating Officer at SBI Foundation. He has
been actively involved in a lot of developmental
and community service banking activities. He
works closely with the SBI’s Flagship programs and is the face
behind the success of these CSR initiatives.
As the coordinator of SBI Youth for India, a flagship program
of SBI, he has been mentoring hundreds of youths. Through his
active involvement in spearheading operations, SBI Foundation
has positively impacted millions of lives. He has completed his
higher studies from Indian Institute of Banking and Finance.

It is believed that a country’s youth determines how

for India fellowship, which has been building dynamic

bright the future of its citizens is going to be. However,

leaders for the past 10 years. The concept of the

very little focus goes behind actualizing this concept

fellowship is simplistic and has proven to be successful

and

through its unique structure and approach.

building

responsible

and

conscious

leaders

of tomorrow. In a leader’s formative years, apart

The SBI Youth for India fellowship is a 13-month rural

from quality education, infrastructural support, and

development program that enables the nation’s youth

employment opportunities, several other facets and

to work on the most crucial issues affecting the rural

qualities truly set some individuals apart from the rest.

pockets of India. The fellowship works in partnership with

Moreover, in a world that is constantly evolving and

globally recognized and experienced NGOs. The NGOs

adapting, the definition of what is expected from the

provide the fellows with ground support and knowledge

leaders has changed too.

required to facilitate on-ground projects that are varied

This is precisely where an initiative like SBI Youth for

across 12 thematic areas that include Education,

India comes in. SBI, extending its values and ethos to its

Women’s Empowerment, Water, Technology, Social

CSR Arm SBI Foundation, started the initiative SBI Youth

Entrepreneurship, Rural Livelihood, Self-Governance,
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Protection,

ICC Impact Awards 2021. Furthermore, the fellowship

Traditional Crafts, and Alternate Energy. These are, in

added yet another feather to its cap when two SBI

turn, key in identifying and solving various gaps that

Youth for India alumni, Shriti Pandey (Batch 2016-17) and

rural communities face.

Saloni Sacheti (Batch 2017-18), made it to the Forbes

Health,

Food

Security,

Environmental

Launched in the year 2011, the fellowship has

30 Under 30 Asia 2021 list. Young women leaders who

successfully transformed more than 350 youth into

pursued their passion for rural development to serve the

socially aware leaders who have continued to positively

underprivileged during their fellowship and continued

impact society even after the completion of their

their legacy of excellence even after. Shriti Pandey,

fellowship. What is noteworthy here is that 70% of the

after receiving a master’s degree in construction

youth who came from diverse backgrounds stayed in

management from New York University, returned to her

the social sector after their fellowships were completed.

home country India and pursued the SBI Youth for India

Even fellows who went back to their old jobs or chose

fellowship. In 2018, post her completion, she founded

a different career path expressed that something

Strawcture Eco. Her technology aims to reduce pollution

changed within them after the fellowship that had

by compressing crop waste into agrifiber panels for

made them better individuals. This just reinstates that

industrial and commercial builds. On the other hand,

one need not be a part of the social sector to bring

Saloni

change; we can be responsible citizens, we can be

jewellery from locally sourced bamboo in one of

more understanding, patient, and compassionate

the poorest pockets of Gujarat, where the majority

towards people and our environment, and that itself will

population belongs to indigenous tribes. Sacheti started

bring forth collective change.

Baansuli while pursuing a fellowship to offer a means of

The philosophy of change created by the SBI Youth

Sacheti’s

‘Baansuli’

produces

handcrafted

livelihood to the residents of the tribal village.

for India fellowship resonated with several others in

The fellowship started in 2011 with a humble

the fraternity when it recently won a trophy in the

batch of 27 fellows. Slowly under the leadership of its

(The fellowship programme plays a crucial role in connecting empowered youth to develop the backward villages,
Source: SBI Foundation)
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management, it gained momentum, ultimately hosting

but once you see how beautiful the journey is, things do

a batch of over 100 fellows in the batch of 2020-21.

not seem difficult anymore. When the fellows see their

The success can, without a doubt, be attributed to the

community smile and thrive because of the hard work

relentlessness of the fellows who brought change where

they put in, all the struggle and pain seem frugal.

it was needed the most. For the urban fellow, the entire

The hard work and struggle definitely pay off when

outlook of looking at rural communities from rose-tinted

rural communities achieve what they deserve and

glasses changes after the completion of 13 months.

are capable of. One prime example was the Covid-19

Rural communities benefit and develop through the

pandemic. Several fellows were on the ground when

skills of the youth, and in the process, the fellows come

the virus first hit the country. From researching and

out as reformed individuals. Thus, I feel the youth of

maintaining data to creating alternate livelihoods for

today needs to pause and take a look at their lives

communities who had lost their jobs in the pandemic,

more holistically; only then can we create a nation of

the fellows left no stone unturned. They did relief work

conscious and empathetic leaders who understand the

for the rural communities in partnership with the NGOs.

pulse of the country.

Moreover, considering the current circumstances, it is

As a banker, I have been truly impressed and

safe to say that we need more such youth to step up

inspired by the youths leaving their lucrative careers

and join hands with communities suffering due to the

and opting for the fellowship to bring change. I truly

pandemic.

believe in the power of discipline. Moreover, I feel that

The modern Indian youth is empowered, has a voice,

discipline need not always mean maintaining a diary or

and is definitely passionate about bringing change

doing a run every day. It means keeping a firm belief in

for its country. What it lacks, though, is the method,

your ambition. It means not giving up on your dreams no

structure, and platform to channelize this energy. SBI

matter how difficult things get or how long it takes, and

Youth for India is such a platform for the youth. We hope

that is precisely what the fellows learn in the 13 months.

that the movement started 10 years back takes more

They go through a cycle of change. The start is difficult,

meaningful turns in the years to come.

(Every year the foundation aims to take the fellowship one step further and bring in more youth to work
towards the betterment of the community (Source: SBI Foundation)
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(SBI Foundation’s initiatives are “perfectly aligned” with programmes for young change makers and it works
for holistic development children)
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8.10 Return to the centrality of development
- P. Satish, Executive Director, Sa-Dhan

About the author:
Shri. P Satish is a consummate development
professional with 33 years of experience in the
financial sector. His career has seen him working
in premier organizations like RBI and NABARD. His
inner calling and pure passion for microfinance
sector saw him move over to Sa-Dhan as its
Executive Director in March, 2015. Shri Satish is a speaker who
has presented papers in dozens of countries at international
forums.
Shri Satish comes with a strong academic pedigree. A gold
medalist in Economics from Osmania University, Hyderabad,
he also has an MBA (Finance) from the same university. He
has an MS in Economics from University of Illinois at UrbanaChampaign, USA. He completed his Ph. D in Economics from
Punjab University, Chandigarh in the area of Agricultural Credit
Markets in Punjab.

philanthropy

network with a wide outreach. To fulfil the priority sector

and charity have moved from providing financial

lending norms and expand their footprint, commercial

assistance to individuals and groups on a standalone

banks are lending to microfinance institutions for on-

basis to implementing comprehensive development

lending.

Over

the

last

three

decades,

programmes which are sustainable and can be

Transformation into commercial institutions comes

upscaled in the long run. Since the fifties, the major

with its own requirements of ensuring a good return

focus of governments, donor agencies, agencies of

for

the UN, charities, and foundations has been on poverty

for the lenders. As a result, the original lofty goal of

alleviation. While there is no single solution to poverty

comprehensive development of the communities they

in the developing world, one strategy — microfinance

work with takes a back seat. Even in instances where

— had attracted support from two groups, free-

these institutions have a developmental component,

market promoters and traditional donor-foundation

that is only an addendum. This had an unintended

protagonists, who do not always see eye-to-eye.

consequence: the onset of donor fatigue towards

investors

and

efficient

financial

performance

While most microfinance initiatives start with public

the microfinance sector, which has turned out to be

or private philanthropic funds, many eventually become

disastrous for non-profits implementing microfinance

self-sustaining commercial institutions. The sector has

programmes.

now created a more professional and commercial
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Nowhere is the aphorism “Small is beautiful” truer

A critical area that would require the microfinance

than in the microfinance sector. There is a large number

sector to redouble its efforts in bringing the poorest of

of small institutions with varying legal forms in the sector

the poor to a bankable level. A person at the lowest

- non-profits like Section 8 Companies, Societies, Trusts,

rung of poverty may be reluctant to incur debt and start

for-profits like NBFC-MFIs, and Cooperatives. These

a micro-enterprise because of risk and uncertainty with

institutions serve localized areas and communities and

cash flows. Usually, the individual may not possess the

are close to their needs and aspirations, with their eyes

entrepreneurial and technical skills needed for wealth

and ears to the ground. Many of the smaller institutions

creation. Such an economically inactive individual

operate in difficult geographies like hilly regions and

would be unbankable and would find it difficult to

the North East. However, with mounting restrictions on

obtain financing from microfinance institutions. Indeed,

donor funding, CSR funding going increasingly to the

more than financial services, these groups of people

companies’ own foundations or government floated

must first be provided for their basic needs, such as food,

funds, these institutions are starved of funds for their

clothing, and shelter. Though both state and central

development interventions.

governments have some social safety programmes,

Even accessing commercial debt funding is an

they are not comprehensive enough in their coverage.

uphill task for these institutions as

Therefore, funding safety nets for this

the preference of lenders is for

strata of population and linking them

big

institutions.

For

the

smaller

commercial MFIs, the requirement
is for patient capital and venture
capital as also impact investments.
However, here too, the preference
of the funders is for the bigger
institutions.

“The process of
development was
not an episode with
a beginning and an
end...It is still going
on.”

with a microfinance programme is a
necessity.
In
related

order

to

barrier,

cross
such

the

skill-

individuals

would also need training for skills
development before they are able
to make good use of microfinance.

-Eric Hobshawn
Age of Revolution

(Microfinance provides women with the financial backing they need to start business ventures and actively participate
in the economy. Source: Sa-dhan)
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These individuals may move through several stages
– from abject penury to a stage where they are able
to meet their consumption needs, then to a stage
where they come to acquire necessary technical and
entrepreneurial skills for setting up their livelihoods and
micro-enterprises, and finally to a stage where they are
able to obtain the required funds from microfinance
institutions and have their livelihoods and microenterprises up and running. Fighting poverty, thus,
would require an integrated finance-plus approach.
Empowerment of the poor, especially the women, is
the soul of microfinance. In the process of transformation
from non-profits to commercial microfinance, the
soul was lost as the sector was preoccupied with the
calculations of business growth, RoIs, RoEs, valuations,
etc. Empowerment is a process; it cannot happen
overnight. The institutions have to expend time and
effort with the clients if the sector has to return to its soulempowerment.
This would only be possible through a communitybased approach, where the MFIs should function more
as community-based organizations. They should map

“Micro credit is
not charity. This is
business: business
with a social
objective, which
is to help people
get out of poverty.”
- Muhammad
Yunus - Founder of
Grameen Bank,
Nobel Peace Prize
recipient.

out the communities in which they are working, identify
the groups of people at the lowest income levels, design
appropriate social safety nets, and then work out
mechanisms to support these financially. MFIs should

(Microfinance services can result in women’s self-confidence, ability to face problems, control over the use of money,
decision-making ability, participation in public issues and ownership over productive as well as consumer assets (Sinha
et al., 2012)
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also facilitate the communities in accessing existing

and deepened by involving them in a systematic and

government

programmatic manner and supporting them with the

subsidies

under

various

programmes

and cash transfer schemes. MFIs need to invest in skill
development in these communities.

technical and financial resources needed.
The microfinance sector thus needs to take several

Further, with their excellent outreach at the

measures to bring back developmental focus as its

grassroots level, MFIs are appropriate institutions to

centrality. However, this would require developmental

deliver government programs in water, sanitation,

and non-commercial funds to flow into the sector

health, renewable energy, affordable housing, disaster

again. These funds need to come not only from global

relief, etc. At present, at least 60 MFIs are implementing

development foundations but also from multilateral and

one or more of these programmes with the support of

bilateral donor agencies, development banks, national

a few international/donor agencies and foundations. In

governments, and local charities.

this aspect, the efficacy of the sector was amply proved

Emphasizing the return to centrality of development

during the first wave of the Covid-19 pandemic when

may invite the comment ‘plus ça change, plus c’est la

most MFIs were conveying messages and advisories

meme chose’ (the more it changes, the more it is the

related to health and disease prevention to their

same thing). However, paraphrasing Eric Hobsbawm’s

borrowers. Many MFIs arranged food and essential

comment on the Industrial Revolution in his ‘The Age of

supplies support as well as medical treatment and

Revolution,’ we may state, “The process of development

sanitization products support to the clients and their

was not an episode with a beginning and an end...It is

families. The involvement of the microfinance sector

still going on.”

in these developmental areas has to be widened

(Microfinance empowering women to succeed and escape income inequality
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8.11 FPOs are the way now and the way forward
- Suseela Chintala, MD & CEO, NABKISAN Finance Ltd.

About the author:
Smt. Suseela Chintala, Chief General Manager,
NABARD is currently the MD & CEO of NABKISAN
Finance Limited, a dynamic subsidiary of
NABARD which is fully focused on credit linking
of FPOs. She holds a Post Graduate Degree in
Commerce and is a certified associate of Indian Institute of
Bankers.
Smt Suseela comes with over three decades of sterling
experience in agriculture and rural development projects,
credit planning, monitoring, finance, Micro Credit, Supervision
of Cooperatives and RRBs. She has also served as General
Manager in NABFINS, a subsidiary of NABARD. While working
in Tamil Nadu she was on the board of Tamil Nadu Women
Development Corporation Ltd.

Indian agriculture, predominated by small farmers,

FPOs are key to many problems of Indian agriculture

now standing at 86% of 140 million farmers with an

like climate change, productivity, resource scarcity,

average landholding of 1.07 ha, is on the precipice of

price discovery, quality, product diversification, etc.,

a new revolution and delivery mechanism to increase

and if nurtured to their true potential, FPOs will not

viability, sustainability, and profitability. New players on

only alter the landscape of the farm sector but will

the horizon, such as the FPOs and Agri start-ups, are fast

also enable rural India to contribute to the growth of

becoming beacons of hope in this rapidly transforming

the Indian economy with greater vigour. Thus, it is not

ecosystem, which in turn, is paving the way for rapid

enough to simply enable the formation of an FPO but

growth of Indian agriculture. When the existing 8000

also to construct a suitable ecosystem around these

FPOs have already started delivering the desired

FPOs, which would be instrumental in facilitating their

results, GOI’s mission of forming 10000 new FPOs in the

growth.

next 4 years is a step in the right direction. Increase in

The sustainability of FPOs depends on various factors

production, productivity, price discovery for farmers,

such as affordability of credit, accessibility to the

and all the benefits that follow are possible with the

market, availability of technology to bridge the gap

rapid use or technological interventions made possible

between producers and consumers, etc. Since FPOs

by agri-tech start-ups and FPOs.

mainly comprise of small and marginal farmers who
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are presumed to be risky clients due to reasons such as

As of date, more than 700 POs have been extended

having a low capital base, inability to offer collateral,

credit of Rs 400 Cr. by NABKISAN. However, this path is not

etc., their ability to avail credit from formal credit

a bed of roses both for the FPOs as well as the lending

institutions becomes rather questionable. The risks could

institution as it is wrought with several issues despite the

be further aggravated due to unpredictable monsoons,

proactive role being played by institutions like NABARD,

changing weather patterns, market fluctuations, etc.

SFAC, State Govts, and other important stakeholders.

This is where institutions such as NABARD and SFAC have

Low capital base and financial strength, limited

stepped up, followed by many State Governments, and

managerial skills, poor business plan and lack of

have taken the lead in promoting more than 7000 FPOs

contingency planning, limited active membership,

across the nation. Guarantee to such organisations

impediments

would assuage some of the concerns, and SFAC,

absence of credit history, corporate governance, poor

through its credit guarantee scheme and equity grant

credit discipline, politicisation are some of the major

schemes, started addressing the above problems.

issues afflicting the sector. The Government of India and

obtaining

licenses,

compliances,

Since credit to these fledgling organisations is not a

various State Governments have come up with schemes

mainstream activity, and most banks are yet to come

to address some of these issues by providing equity grants

to terms with factors such as financing, NABKISAN has

to augment capital base, providing credit guarantee to

emerged as the leader in providing

encourage institutional credit flow,

credit, viz, working capital and

nomination of Resource Support

term loans to FPOs at this crucial
juncture. As a result, majority of
FPOs have been extended credit
for the first time by NABKISAN, where
95% of the lending has taken place
without collateral security. Thus, it
has created a sustainable business
model for FPOs at different stages /
maturity with a rating mechanism in
place.

“The resilience of the
farming community
in the face of the
pandemic made
agriculture the
only sector to have
clocked a positive
growth of 3.4 per
cent at constant
prices in 2020-21,
when other sectors
slid.”
(Economic Survey 2020-21)
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in

Agencies (RSA or RA) to build
capacities of the office bearers
of the FPO, prioritised licensing for
FPOs to deal with agricultural inputs,
providing
of

subsidies

post-harvest

for

creation

handling

and

processing infrastructure, etc. These
efforts are expected to bridge the
current gaps so as to enable the
FPOs to move to a higher pedestal.

In a recent study conducted by Price Waterhouse

Though there are a plethora of agencies trying to

Coopers (PwC) on the marketing of agricultural

bridge the gap, spirited involvement of a new subsidiary

produce through FPOs in Maharashtra, it has been

of NABARD in terms of capacity building would go a long

reported that FPCs have resulted in increased price

way in bringing synergies between the thinking of GoI,

realization by members by 22%, a decrease in the cost

NABARD, and also NABKISAN, besides other banking

of marketing by 31%, a net saving of Rs. 1384/- per acre

institutions. Though NABFOUNDATION itself is at a stage

in the purchase of inputs. Further, more than 1000 FPOs

of infancy, it has proved its mettle in mainstreaming some

have registered on (e-NAM) for direct interface with the

of the social issues which hitherto were either neglected

buyers, and more than 250 FPOs are part of NCDEX. All

or stifled due to their perception of being taboo, thus not

these indicate that FPOs can be a game-changer for

losing out on even the slightest opportunity in making a

farmers, rural youth, employment, and overall economic

difference to the lives and livelihoods of people through

growth of the country.

its projects.

Despite all these developments and support being
extended by various agencies, there is a need for
continuous handholding, at least for an initial period
of 5 to 6 years. Further, a program focusing on intense
capacity building will go a long way in cementing the
gains thus earned and strengthening their institutions.

(NABKISAN has financed VAPCOL- ‘Vrindavan’ is the brand under which VAPCOL sells all its products. The brand is known
for its premium quality Cashew, Pickles, Mango Pulp/bar and Fresh Mangoes. Source: NABKISAN)
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With the mandate so expansive with respect to the
areas to foray into, NABFOUNDATION is poised to make
a change in terms of capacity building of the FPOs.
This is where I perceive a collaborative approach and
an important role to be played by NABFOUNDATION.
With NABARD at the helm of promoting FPOs, another
subsidiary, viz NABSANRAKSHAN, is all set to provide
credit guarantee to 10000 FPOs. Along with NABKISAN
pursuing its mandate of financing FPOs, the possibility
of NABFOUNDATION in boosting the capabilities and
governing capacities of the FPO will be a good augury
for the future.

(Women farmers with onion harvest)
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(Vrindavan Kesar and Alphonso Mangoes are organic and naturally ripened to provide natural taste to the end
customers, source: NABKISAN)
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(FPO having a group meeting to discuss objectives and possible business ideas for the company)
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8.12 Collective Problem Inquiry - Key to solving complex problems
- Shamik Trehan, CEO of Dr. Reddy’s Foundation

About the author:
Shri. Shamik Trehan is the CEO of Dr. Reddy’s
Foundation. He joined in 2015 and has extensive
experience leading and managing large social
sector programmes aimed at improving lives
of the poor in partnership with communities,
government, development agencies, and the private sector.
Before joining DRF, he was the Chief of Party of Bihar Technical
Support Programme for CARE India.
Over the years Shamik has worked with leaders in both the
public and private sectors, including GoI, BMGF, DFID, EU, and
Indian and international nonprofits. His core interest areas are
strategy, organization building and leadership. He has pursued
his Masters from Indian Institute of Forest Management.

In the social sector, we deal with complex,

sharply articulated problems. CPI can help us leverage

interconnected problems. Most of the time we do

the collective intelligence around us to converge on the

not sharply define the problem. While this could be

core of the problem, and we can benefit jointly as well

because of several issues, often this is largely driven by

as individually.

the urgency to find solutions which in turn muddies the
real problem and thereby results in limiting the impact.
Adding to this dilemma is the fact that solutions

To address complex social problems, we need to
perhaps have a re-look at our approach to finding
solutions.

aimed at solving these problems often overlap with
each other, resulting in the wastage of resources. If only
we could pause to analyze and define the problem
more sharply.

Converge and Align
As a first step, it is important to find simple and
effective ways to reinforce efforts targeted at solving
the same problem by multiple players. If we have to

Collective Problem Inquiry

overcome the challenge, then none should struggle

Collective Problem Inquiry (CPI) is an approach

alone with the same problem or re-invent the wheel. We

that aids with just that. It evolves from the ground up

have to co-define problems and reinforce our efforts.

and attempts to bring synergy behind co-defined and
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KEY ISSUES
Increase in net
While the net income increase is

0.44%

Income

just 0.44%, the cost of cultivation

of small and marginal farmers

has increased

More than
20%

59%

Increase in

20%

Cultivation Cost

We at Dr. Reddy’s Foundation have come across
passionate, committed, and visionary people who

do not have access to

59%

agri-extension services.

Step 2: Create alignment on straight problem
definition

have brought about change and impact at scale,

A clear problem definition is critical to designing

in part because they defined the problem sharply

impactful solutions. Without alignment at the problem

before searching for solutions. Also, it is something we

definition stage, we are likely to miss opportunities, use

have tried to put into practice in all of our programs

resources sub-optimally, and pursue initiatives that are

with good results. Our MITRA program which is being

not aligned with national priorities within a sector. It is

implemented with 200,000 farmers focuses on improving

also important to be open-minded about redefining

access to agri-extension services and reduce the cost

the problem as well, even if it diverges from our initial

of cultivation while improving yield- is a good example

understanding and articulation.

of how we can collectively work to define problems
sharply and design impactful solutions.

And MITRA exemplifies this very well. The challenge
of improving access to agri-extension services is a
complex problem and includes multiple players like

How it works

the government, input companies, NGOs, financial

CPI entails creating alignment on a sharp problem

institutions, and start-ups. However, each group based

definition, agreeing on what success looks like, and

on their location, resources, and expertise used a

establishing mechanisms for sharing progress, regularly.

different lens to analyze the problem.

This results in a shared understanding and ownership of

What MITRA did differently was, to quote Suman,

the problem and success measures and provides an

Team Lead at MITRA, “After we defined the problem,

opportunity to learn from multiple solutions.

we reached out to many organizations working on
similar issues. There was an agreement and alignment

Step 1: Define the problem sharply

on the problem with many stakeholders and also on the

The challenge that we must first overcome is a bias

measures of success. However, as other organizations

towards action, especially while dealing with solutions.

were keen to pursue different solutions to solve the

We tend to create perceptions of the problem based on

problem, we decided on sharing our progress and results

memory or experience which makes it difficult for us to

regularly. Our solution was to develop a community-

redefine it later.

based agri- extension model with a distinct approach

In MITRA for example, while the field team’s experience

to lead farmer selection and leveraging services of

had established that the low productivity was linked to

other stakeholders. In addition to working closely with

the farmers’ limitation to access new technology and

farmers, we also partnered with start-ups to “co-create”

practices; they did not rely on their assumptions alone.

improved farm mechanizations.”

Instead, they engaged with farmers’ groups - especially
their community platforms - in eight states and gathered
data through FGDs and questionnaires to confirm the
problem. It also involved series of discussions with key
stakeholders from government agri-departments, input
companies, and other entities working in this area. This
participatory exercise helped the team to hone the
problem statement and define the problem sharply.
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Step 3: Agree on what success looks like
Most of the time the efforts are not impactful, partly

Step 4: Establishing mechanisms for sharing and
learning

because we have not defined what success looks like,

This enables us to continuously learn and refine the

or, we have defined success but are not aligned on

solutions. The exchange of divergent approaches and

that definition. We must fight the urge to opt for quick

ideas also helps build trust, collective memory, and

solutions, which often do not wholly address the core

wisdom. Crucially, at this stage, we must avoid our

problem at hand.

agenda getting skewed by the resources available.

In MITRA’s case, the metrics for “success” included

The results included below, are what the team

1. Active Lead Farmer (LF) platforms at the village level

shared with the ecosystem. These were measurable and

to bridge the last mile connect of agri-extension

verifiable to not just build trust but also to corroborate

services - and the metric focused on the number of

the learnings.

LFs active and working with fellow farmers (FF).

1. Number of fellow farmers adopt new agricultural

2. The number of FFs who adopted new agricultural
practices in crop and water management
3. The number of FFs who improved their productivity
and reduced their cost of cultivation
4. How is the LF platform being leveraged by other
stakeholders like KVKs, private players, etc. to reach

practices in crop and water management
2. Number of fellow farmers improved their productivity
and reduced their cost of cultivation and have an
additional earning of Rs. 10,000/acre/year.
3. Number of ‘Fellow Farmers’ availed government
scheme with the help of LF platform

a wider farmer community.
When you opt to adopt CPI, there could be issues
of having to slow down, let go of control and unlearn.
Yet, we can make it work by keeping the channels of
communication open, continuously sharing progress,
and collectively “owning” the problem, defining it
sharply, and by agreeing on the common metrics for
measurement.
Why must we walk alone when we can co-define
problems and align for a bigger impact?
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8.13 The journey towards Corporate Citizenship
- Suparna Tandon

About the author:
Smt. Suparna Tandon is a General Manager in
NABARD. She is a Post Graduate in Economics
and holds an Executive MBA in Finance from
Narsee Monjee Institute of Management Studies.
During her career spanning more than three decades in NABARD,
she has worked in various sectors namely Corporate Planning, NonFarm Sector, Economic Analysis and Research, Risk Management
and Project Finance. Her consistent ability to deliver under pressure
and love for finance management saw her heading Nabsamruddhia subsidiary of NABARD successfully.
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Organizations today commit to building all-around

Environment Programme Finance Initiative, the Global

‘stakeholder’ value by aiming to achieve what the

Reporting Initiative, the Equator Principles, and the

economist John Elkington termed ‘Triple Bottom Line.’

Collevecchio Declaration are being adopted to ensure

Simply put, it relates to value creation in terms of the

the adoption of CSR practices in everyday business

‘Planet,’ ‘People,’ and ‘Profits.’ The term ‘corporate

operations. The Reserve Bank of India issued guidelines

social responsibility or CSR came into use during the late

as far back as 2007, exalting all Scheduled Commercial

1960s and early 1970s. Holmes and Watts (1999) defined

Banks to adopt the principles of ‘Corporate Social

CSR as the continuing commitment by businesses

Responsibility,’ ‘Sustainable Development’ and ‘Non-

to behave ethically and contribute to sustainable

Financial Reporting,’ and to integrate social and

economic development while improving the quality of

environmental concerns with business operations. Indian

life of the workforce and that of their families and the

Banks and AIFIs have been contributing significantly over

local community society at large.

the last few decades towards sustainable development

Today, Governments and Corporations alike have

and social equity by targeted lending to the priority

been committing themselves, in whole or in part,

sector, SHG and microfinance lending, skill & vocational

to the attainment of the Sustainable Development

training, financial inclusion efforts, and so on, coupled

Goals (SDGs). In the financial sector at large, several

with ‘green initiatives’ directed at reducing the carbon

international

footprint.

initiatives

like

the

United

Nations

More recently, a whole class of specialized institutions

Since its inception, a major focus of NSFL has been to

such as the Small Finance Banks and Micro Finance

provide support to key sectors like microfinance, micro,

Institutions has focused solely on directing financial

and small businesses, and renewable energy, among

services to the marginalized and small borrowers, having

others. During FY2020-21, the Company introduced a

bearing on poverty reduction, gender empowerment,

credit line for financing Water, Sanitation and Hygiene

and livelihood enhancement. Notwithstanding the

(WASH) activities, specifically, drinking water and

voluntary initiatives, India became the first country to

sanitation programmes in rural areas, and around 14%

make CSR compulsory for all corporates, following an

of the loan portfolio consisted of loans to WASH and

amendment to the Companies Act (2013), on 01 April

Solar Lighting, covering 13,000 beneficiaries, mainly

2014, mandating them to allocate a specific minimum

women, in the States of Bihar, Uttar Pradesh, Odisha,

proportion of their profits annually towards specific CSR

Gujarat, Chhattisgarh, Madhya Pradesh, and Manipur.

activities.

The Company also supports entities operating in the

NABSAMRUDDHI Finance Limited (NSFL) inherited

impact finance space and which support FPOs, women

a unique lineage, values, and objectives aimed at

entrepreneurs, or small businesses that strive to create

sustainable development from its parent, NABARD,

a social and/or environmental impact in a responsible,

all of which have been embedded in the Company’s

transparent, and sustainable manner.

corporate vision, mission as well as its corporate and

NABSAMRUDDHI has also oriented its business

business strategies. NSFL has been investing crucial

operations to align with the relevant provisions of the

resources and efforts in slowly building up a meaningful

Companies Act, 2013 and the CSR Rules, 2014, and

CSR imprint, along with ensuring adherence to a well-

views CSR as an integral part of its brand image and an

defined ESG Matrix and incorporating some of the SDGs

important component of its corporate public relations.

into its responsible corporate actions.

The Company’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

(CSR is driving social change in rural India by empowering women)
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Policy encompasses holistic community development,

project titled “NEW- NER Entrepreneur’s World, which

institution-building, and sustainability-related initiatives.

aims at providing an ‘end to end solution’ to address

The Company acknowledges that macro-economic

the challenges of unemployment in all the states in

development

to

the North East. The project is expected to leverage

improvement in quality of human life through the

technology, including Artificial Intelligence, to develop

provision of basic healthcare, control of water-borne

and maintain a ‘Livelihoods Portal’ for unemployed

diseases, education, and skill development, so as to

youth in the region, followed by need-based skilling in

improve life expectancy/ major health indicators.

Phase II.

is

linked

among

other

factors,

The Company is directing its efforts, albeit small, to

A second and equally impactful project under

contributing to the national efforts towards improvement

implementation, titled ‘AAPNO PANI,’ aims at providing

in health and education. The ongoing Covid pandemic

clean drinking water to a water-scarce village in Luni

saw the Company contributing its entire CSR Budget for

block of Jodhpur district, Rajasthan. This innovative

FY 2019-20 to the PM CARES Fund and to include support

project includes setting up a central solar power-

for Covid related activities in its Annual CSR Action Plan

based RO-UV filtration plant and a unique ID-based

thereafter.

water delivery system, which will assist in self-collection

The previous year also saw NSFL proudly partnering

and home-delivery of water to both domestic and

with its sister concern, NABFOUNDATION, which itself

commercial clients. For this, electric vehicles will

aims to be a ‘catalyst for sustainable development’

be used, powered by a centralized solar grid. Post

and has already built a strong footprint in the social

commissioning, the entire project is expected to be

impact space. One of the ongoing joint CSR initiatives

handed over to an SHG/Cluster Level Federation formed

is aimed at the promotion of livelihood activities in

under the National Rural Livelihood Mission.

Northern Eastern India through a new generation

(Women from the project area in Jodhpur district- they remain the invisible backbone of their households and
communities)
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Rampant industrialization and commercialization
coupled with the unbridled use of non-renewable
energy sources, among others, have led to rapid
global warming, greenhouse gas emissions, and rising
levels of waste, leaving potentially harmful effects for
future generations and unsustainable living standards
for large communities across the world. Secondly, the
benefits of socio-economic growth have bypassed
many marginalized communities and peoples, leading
to urgent calls for bridging the ever-widening gap.
The growing concerns for sustainable development,
environmental performance, pollution control, and
management of natural resources have fueled mass
recognition of the concept of Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR). It is indeed the need of the hour
that all financial and non-financial institutions give back
in equal measure to society.

(CSR at NABSAMRUDDHI is helping curb carbon commissions through its socially responsible projects)
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8.14 The journey of her pad as her right to #My Pad, My Right
- S Vijayalakshmi, Chief General Manager,
Micro Credit Innovations Dept., NABARD

About the author:
Smt. S. Vijayalakshmi joined NABARD in January
1988 and in a remarkable career spanning over
three decades has proved her mettle in every role.
She has worked in various departments and regional
offices of NABARD but her focus areas have been
Institutional Development and Supervision. She
played a pivotal role in the implementation of Vaidyanathan Committee
Report and is currently the head of Micro Credit Innovations Department
in NABARD.
She holds Master of Philosophy degree in Political Science and Master in
Development Management (M.D.M) from Asian Institute of Management,
Manila, Philippines. Not surprisingly, she was also an ADB scholar.
She was a faculty member in Bankers’ Institute of Rural Development,
Lucknow and has undergone faculty training in Centre for International
Development and Training (CIDT), University of Wolverhampton.

For most women reading this annual report,

Apart from issues of hygiene and health, access to

menstruation is a biological function that occurs every

sanitary pads at affordable prices is also a challenge.

month. Though it brings pain /discomfort, it does not

Period poverty has and continues to be one of the

have a disruptive impact. As a result, we have accepted

biggest challenges faced by rural women. In a survey

it as a necessary evil. However, it is a different story for

conducted by Menstrual Health Alliance India (MHAI), it

our rural counterparts.

was found that out of 67 organizations working on Covid

Poor menstruation hygiene continues to be a major

relief across the country, 84 percent stated that “there

health crisis in rural India. Hugely so. Nearly 60,000 rural

is either no or severely restricted access to menstrual

women die each year because of cervical cancer, and

products in communities that they work in, especially for

nearly 2/3rd of these deaths are due to poor menstrual

sanitary pads.”

hygiene. The National Family Health Survey, 2015-2016,

Therefore, when NABFOUNDATION brought the

revealed that more than 50% of women do not use

project proposal of ‘My Pad | My Right’ to MCID, we

protection during menstruation. Another fact which

were doubly happy since, through this project, we

makes menstruation a haunting reality for rural India is

would be addressing two critical issues of menstrual

that it stops millions of girls and women from going to

hygiene and livelihood activity.

school or work.
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The project ‘My Pad | My Right’ consists of providing
sanitary pad-making machines to selected SHGs,
imparting sufficient skill to run production, packaging,
etc., and handholding in marketing the product, thus
nurturing entrepreneurship and financial independence
among rural women. It also encourages sustainable
menstrual waste management practices.
The entire cost of the machine, transportation, and
skill training is being borne by NABARD as a grant. In
the pilot phase, the project has been sanctioned a
total of `1.99 crore for the machine, raw material, and
skill-building and also ` 8.63 lakh for preparing training
material and capacity building film. Padmashri Shri.
Arunachalam Muruganantham, who has designed the
award-winning low-cost pad-making machine, is the
Technical Partner for the project.
NABFOUNDATION has developed comprehensive
training, awareness, marketing, and branding strategy
to address challenges and ensure the sustainability
of the project. The project has been rolled out in 28
districts. We look forward to rolling it out in phases to
cover all districts.
Congratulations and best wishes to NABFOUNDATION
for success in this project and future projects.
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9.

Notice For The Annual General Meeting Of NABFOUNDATION
Dear Members,
NOTICE is hereby given to the members of NAB
NABFOUNDATION
FOUNDATION that the 2nd Annual General Meeting
of the Foundation will be held on 14th September 2021 at 11.30 a.m. at the registered office of the
Company to transact the following business:
ORDINARY BUSINESS
Adoption of Annual Audited Financial Statements and Reports thereon- Ordinary Resolution:
1.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following resolution as
an Ordinary Resolution:
“RESOLVED THAT the Financial Statements consisting of Balance Sheet as on 31st March, 2021,
statement of Income and Expenditure for the Financial Year ended on that date, together with
Schedules and Notes thereon and cash flow statement and with the Report of the Board of
Directors and auditors for the financial year ended March 2021 be and are hereby approved”

2.

To fix the remuneration of Auditors and in this regard, to consider and if thought fit, to pass with
or without modification(s), the following resolution as an Ordinary resolution:
“RESOLVED THAT in pursuance of Section 142 read with Section 139 (5) of the Companies Act,
2013, the Board of Directors be and is hereby authorized to fix and approve the remuneration
of the Statutory Auditor of the company appointed by the Comptroller and Auditor General of
India (CAG) for the financial year 2021-22.”

By order of the Board of Directors
For NABFOUNDATION

Sanjeev D Rohilla
CEO & Director
DIN - 08640408											
08640408											
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10. Directors Report
To,
The Members,
NABFOUNDATION
NAB
FOUNDATION
Your Directors are pleased to present to you the 2nd Annual Report of NAB
NABFOUNDATION
FOUNDATION on the
operations of the Foundation and the accounts for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2021.
1.

Financial summary or highlights/ Performance of the Foundation
The financial result for the year ended 31st March, 2021 are as under:
Particulars

31.03.2021

Total Contribution/Fund Received

1,94,03,454

-

40,02,681

2,39,088

2,12,94,703

7,27,949

21,11,432

(4,88,861)

23,259

-

20,88,173

(4,88,861)

Other Income
Less: Expenditure for the Year excluding Depreciation and
Amortization Exp.
Income or Expenditure before Depreciation and Amortization
Exp.
Less: Depreciation & Amortization Expense
Income or Expenditure after Depreciation and Amortization Exp.
But before Tax
Less: Current Tax and Deferred Tax
Income or Expenditure after Tax
2.

31.03.2020

Nil

Nil

20,88,173

(4,88,861)

Brief Description of the Foundation’s working During the Year:The Foundation was incorporated by NABARD to complement NABARD’s developmental/
promotional roles/ functions and strengthen the delivery efficacy/quality of outcomes of
promotional projects in the field of agriculture and rural development.
NABFOUNDATION is registered as a wholly-owned subsidiary of NABARD under Section 8 of
Companies Act, 2013. NABFOUNDATION is envisioned with functional autonomy that would
emerge as a reputed organization working for implementing NABARD’s developmental
initiatives effectively. The organization would also network, coordinate and collaborate with
other organizations to execute tasks related to developmental activities. The Foundation has
reported Surplus of ` 20,88,173/- for the Financial Year 2020-21under review as compared to
deficit of ` (4,88,861)/- in the previous year.
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3.

Share Capital structure
The Share Capital Structure as on the date of this Report is as follows:
Authorised Share Capital

` 5,00,00,000/- (Rupees Five crore Only)

Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Share
Capital

` 5,00,00,000/- (Rupees Five crore Only)

During the year under review an additional Share Capital of ` 4 crore was infused by the National
Bank for Agriculture and Rural development (NABARD). This was in addition to the original paid
up Capital of ` 1 crore. The company/foundation continues to be wholly owned subsidiary of
NABARD.
4.

Dividend
By virtue of being a Company registered under section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013, the
Foundation cannot declare any dividend.

5.

Board of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel
The composition of Board of Directors as on the date of this Report is as under:
Sr. No.
1.

6.

Name of the Director
Shri Govinda Rajulu Chintala

DIN

Date of Appointment

03622371

30/06/2020

2.

Shri Asit Kumar Mohanty

07398618

31/08/2019

3.

Shri Sanjeev D. Rohilla

08640408

16/12/2019

4.

Shri Jitendra Kalra

08722638

13/03/2020

5.

Shri Sanjeev Dhamija

08770702

30/06/2020

6.

Shri Nirupam Mehrotra

08770770

30/06/2020

Number of Board Meetings
The Board of Directors met three times, the details of which are as follows:
Number of Board Meeting

Date of the Board Meeting

No. of Directors Present

1st

30/06/2020

5

2nd

02/12/2020

6

3rd

15/02/2021

5

The time gap between two Board Meetings, as applicable to a Company registered under
Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013 was maintained.
Directors Attendance
Attendances of the directors for the Board meetings held during the financial year are as follows:
Sr. No.
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Name of the Director

Meeting Eligible to attend

Meeting Attended

1.

Shri Govinda Rajulu Chintala

3

3

2.

Shri Asit Kumar Mohanty

3

2

3.

Shri Sanjeev D. Rohilla

3

3

4.

Shri Jitendra Kalra

3

2

5.

Shri Sanjeev Dhamija

3

3

6.

Shri Nirupam Mehrotra

3

3

7.

Change in the nature of business, if any
There was no change in nature of Business of the Foundation during the period under review.

8.

Material changes and commitments, if any, affecting the financial position of the company
which have occurred between the end of the financial year of the company to which the
financial statements relate and the date of the report
The Foundation has not recorded any material change in the business or operation which may
result into any tax obligations or statutory liabilities for the year ended 31st March 2021.

9.

Details of significant and material orders passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals impacting
the going concern status and company’s operations in future
During the year ended 31st March 2021, Foundation did not receive any significant and material
orders passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status or
Foundation’s operations in future.

10. Details of Subsidiary/Joint Ventures/Associate Companies
NABFOUNDATION is registered as a wholly-owned subsidiary of NABARD under Section 8 of
Companies Act, 2013. NABFOUNDATION does not have Subsidiary/ Joint Venture.
11. Performance and financial position of each of the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
companies included in the consolidated financial statement.
This clause is not applicable to Foundation.
12. Deposits
The Foundation has not obtained, taken, accepted or continued any loans, amounts of money
or deposits, under the provision of Section 73 to 76 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Companies
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 and hence no separate disclosure is required in this regard.
13. Statutory Auditors
The Foundation being a subsidiary of NABARD, which is owned and controlled by the
Government of India, falls within the criteria laid out under section 139(5) of the Companies Act,
2013 and accordingly the Statutory Auditors of the Foundation are appointed by the office of
the Comptroller & Auditor General of India (CAG).
CAG has appointed M/s. Ramesh Sunil & Associates as the Statutory Auditors of the Foundation
for the Financial Year ended on 31.03.2021.
The Statutory Auditors of the Foundation have not reported any fraud as specified under the
second of Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 (including any statutory modification(s) or
re–enactment(s) for the time being in force).
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14. Auditors’ Report
The Notes on Financial Statements referred to in the Auditor’s Report are self-explanatory and
do not call for any further comments. The Auditor’s Report does not contain any qualification,
reservation or adverse remark.
15. Report on the Comments of the Comptroller & Auditor General, India (CAG)
Comments of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India as per Report dated 13th August
2021 submitted under section 143 (6) read with section 129 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013 on
the Financial Statements of the Foundation for the year ended 31st March, 2021 is annexed as
Annexure I.
The Comptroller and Auditor General of India has refrain to conduct supplementary audit of
the financial statements of NABFOUNDATION Limited for the year ended 31st March 2021 under
Section 143 (6)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013.
16. Conservation of energy, technology absorption and foreign exchange earnings and outgo
The details of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange earnings and
outgo are as follows:
(A) Conservation of energy
(I)

The steps taken or impact on conservation
of energy

The Foundation is undertaking all the
necessary steps in energy conservation.

(ii)

The steps taken by the company for
utilizing alternate sources of energy.

NA

(iii)

The capital investment on energy
conservation equipment's

NA

(B) Technology absorption
(i)

The effort made towards technology
absorption

The Foundation is undertaking adequate
steps in technology up gradation and
to enhance the usage of advanced
technology.

(ii)

The benefits derived like product
improvement cost reduction product
development or import substitution

NA

(iii)

In case of imported technology (important
during the last three years reckoned from
the beginning of the financial year)
(a) the details of technology imported
(b) the year of import;
(c) whether the technology been fully
absorbed
(d) if not fully absorbed, areas where
absorption has not taken place, and
the reasons thereof

NA

(iv)

the expenditure incurred on Research and
Development

Nil

(C) Foreign exchange earnings and Outgo:
No Foreign Exchange was earned/used during F.Y. 2020-21
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17. Employees
There are no employees drawing remuneration in excess of the limits specified in Rule 5 (2) of the
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.
18. Annual Return
The extract of the Annual Return as required to be attached in terms of Section 92(3) of the
Companies Act, 2013, is attached as “Annexure II” to this Report.
19. Particulars of loans, guarantees or investments under section 186
During the financial year 2020-21, the Foundation has no investments of any amount in the form
of loans, guarantees or investments under Section 186.
20. Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties:
No contract or arrangements were entered into by the Foundation with related parties referred
to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013.
21. Risk management policy
The Foundation has adopted robust risk management policy during the year from 1st April 2020
to 31st March 2021. The Foundation has evaluated critical activity, it’s disruptions and reinstituting
the original activity within a short period of time. The risk management policies are being
evaluated at regular interval.
22. Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Directors’ Responsibility Statement referred to in sub-section (5) of Section 134 of the
Companies Act, 2013, states that:
(a) in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been
followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures;
(b) the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Foundation at the end of the financial year and of the
profit and loss and of the Cash flow statement of the Foundation for that period;
(c) the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets
of the Foundation and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;
(d) the directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; and
(e) the directors, in the case of our Foundation, had laid down internal financial controls to be
followed by the Foundation and that such internal financial controls are adequate and were
operating effectively.
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(f) the directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.
23. Details On Internal Financial Controls Related to Financial Statement.
Foundation has put in place adequate internal financial controls with reference to the financial
statements, some of which are outlined below.
Foundation has adopted accounting policies which are in line with the Accounting Standards
prescribed in the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 that continue to apply under
Section 133 and other applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7
of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2015 and relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, to
the extent applicable. These are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
in India.
Foundation operates in an ERP system, and has many of its accounting records stored in an
electronic form and backed up periodically. The ERP system is configured to ensure that all
transactions are integrated seamlessly with the underlying books of account. Foundation has
automated processes to ensure accurate and timely up-dation of various master data in the
underlying ERP system.
Foundation in preparing its financial statements makes judgments and estimates based on
sound policies and uses external agencies to verify/ validate them as and when appropriate.
The Management periodically reviews the financial performance of Foundation against the
approved plans across various parameters and takes necessary action, wherever necessary.
24. Acknowledgements
The Board of Directors places on records its sincere gratitude to NABARD, Income Tax Office
Mumbai, Bankers, Civil Society Organizations, other Foundations, our Auditors, and other
stakeholders for their support and Co-operation.

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD NABFOUNDATION
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PLACE : MUMBAI.

Dr. G. R. Chintala

Sd/- Sanjeev D Rohilla

DATE : - 02/09/2021

DIRECTOR

DIRECTOR

DIN : 03622371

DIN : 08640408

11. Comments of C & AG
COMMENTS OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA UNDER SECTION 143(6)(b) OF
THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF NABFOUNDATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2021
The preparation of financial statements of NABFOUNDATION for the year ended 31 March 2021
in accordance with the financial reporting framework prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013
(Act) is the responsibility of the management of the company. The statutory auditor appointed by the
Comptroller and Auditor General of India under section 139(5) of the Act is responsible for expressing
opinion on the financial statements under section 143 of the Act based on independent audit in
accordance with the standards on auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act. This is stated
to have been done by them vide their Audit Report dated 04 June 2021.
I, on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, have decided not to conduct the
supplementary audit of the financial statements of NABFOUNDATION for the year ended 31 March 2021
under section 143(6)(a) of the Act.

For and on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General of India

Sd/(P V Hari Krishna)
Principal Director of Audit (Shipping), Mumbai
Place: Mumbai
Date: 13.08.2021
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12. Annexure-II of Directors Report
ANNEXURE – II
I. REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS:
CIN

U85100MH2019NPL330036

Registration Date

31/08/2019

Name of the Company

NABFOUNDATION

Category/Sub-Category of the Company

Section 8 Company

Address of the Registered office and contact
details

2nd Floor, B Wing, NABARD Head Office
Plot No. C-24, G-Block, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Bandra (East), Mumbai Mumbai City MH 400051

Whether listed company

No

Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar
and Transfer Agent, if any

Not Applicable

II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY
The principal activities of the foundation are to initiate plan, execute, implement, aid and assist any/
all activities under Schedule VII, Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013 with special focus on generation
of rural income and livelihood, sustainable agriculture and rural development, natural resource
management, adaption and mitigation for combating climate change and its impact, providing
resource support and guidance for various governmental and non-governmental programmes, skill
and capacity development, rural of farm activities, including marketing of rural non farm products,
rural innovation, gender sensitization, SHG promotion and women empowerment, health, education,
sanitation and housing, drinking water facility, rural infrastructure project and financial inclusion
through digital means.
III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Sr.
No.

1.

Name and Address of
The Company

CIN/GLN

Holding /
Subsidiary /
Associate

%of shares held

Applicable

NA

Holding

100%

2(46)

National Banking for
Agriculture and Rural
Development

IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)
i. Category-wise Share Holding
No. of Shares held at the beginning of
the year

Category of Shareholders

Demat
A. Promoter

Physical

Total

No. of Shares held at the end of the year

% of Total
Demat
Shares

Physical

Total

% of Total
Shares

% Change
during the
year

-

1) Indian
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a) Individual/ HUF

-

6

6

0.0006

-

6

6

0.00012

NIL

b) Central Govt

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

c) State Govt(s)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

d) Bodies Corp

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

e) Banks / FI

-

f) Any Other
Sub-total (A)(1):-

9,99,994

9,99,994

99.99%

-

49,99,994 49,99,994 99.99%

NIL

-

1000000

1000000

100%

-

50,00,000 50,00,000 100%

NIL

a) NRIs-Individuals

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) Other-Individuals

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

c) Bodies Corp.

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

d) Banks / FI

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

e) Any Other….

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Sub-total (A)(2):-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

a) Mutual Funds

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

b) Banks / FI

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

c) Central Govt

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

d) State Govt(s)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2) Foreign

B. Public Shareholding
1. Institutions

e) Venture Capital
Funds
f) Insurance
Companies
g) FIIs
h) Foreign Venture
Capital Funds
i) Others
(specify)
Sub-total (B) (1)
2. Non Institutions
a) Bodies Corp.
(i) Indian
(ii) Overseas
b) Individuals
(i) Individual
shareholders
holding nominal
share capital up to
Rs. 1 lakh
(ii) Individual
shareholders
holding nominal
share capital in
excess of Rs 1 lakh
c) Others (Specify)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Sub-total (B)(2)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total Public
Shareholding (B)=(B)
(1)+ (B) (2)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

C. Shares held by
Custodian for GDR
&ADRs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Grand Total (A+B+C)

-

1000000

1000000

100%

50,00,000 50,00,000 100%

-
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ii

Shareholding of Promoters

Sr. No

1.

Shareholder’s Name

Shareholding at the beginning of the
Shareholding at the end of the year
year
%of Shares
%of Shares % change
% of total
Pledged /
% of total
Pledged /
in share
No. of Shares Shares of the encumbered No. of Shares Shares of the encumbered holding
company
to total
company
to total
during the
shares
shares
year

National Banking
for Agriculture and
Rural Development
(including its nomiee)

10,00,000

100%

-

50,00,000

100%

-

NIL

Total

10,00,000

100%

-

50,00,000

100%

-

NIL

iii. Change in Promoters’ Shareholding
There was no change in promoter’s shareholding during the year
V. INDEBTEDNESS
Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment
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Secured Loans
excluding
deposits

Unsecured
Loans

Deposits

Total
Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the beginning
of the financial year
i) Principal Amount
ii) Interest due but not paid
iii) Interest accrued but not

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

Total (i+ii+iii)

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

Change in Indebtedness
during the financial year
- Addition
- Reduction

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

Net Change

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

Indebtedness at the
end of the financial year
i) Principal Amount
ii) Interest due but not paid
iii) Interest accrued but not
due

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

Total (i+ii+iii)

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager
No Remuneration was paid during the year to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or
Manager
B. Remuneration to other directors:
Remuneration Amounting Rs. 40,000/- was paid to Shri Jitender Kalra during the year as
director remuneration.
C. Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel Other Than MD /Manager /WTD
No Remuneration was paid during the year to Key Managerial Personnel.
VII. PENALTIES/ PUNISHMENT/ COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES:
No penalties were levied for any Offences
FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD NABFOUNDATION

Sd/-

Sd/-

PLACE : MUMBAI.

Dr. G. R. Chintala

Sanjeev D Rohilla

DATE : - 02/09/2021

DIRECTOR

DIRECTOR

DIN : 03622371

DIN : 08640408
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13. Independent Auditors’ Report
To
The Members of
NABFOUNDATION
I.

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements Opinion
A.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of NABFOUNDATION, (“the
company”) which comprises the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2021, the Statement of Income
and Expenditure, Statement of Cash Flow of the company for the year then ended and a and
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. (Hereinafter
referred to as “the Financial Statements”).

B.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to
us, the aforesaid Financial Statements give the information required by the Companies Act,
2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the
Accounting Principles prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies
(Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, as amended, (“AS”) and other accounting principles
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2021, the
surplus and cash flow for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the Financial Statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (SA’s) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules there
under, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Financial Statements.
Other Matter
On account of COVID-19 pandemic, review of physical documents (wherever required) was
carried out through scanned images of document and confirmations provided by the management.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation and presentation of these financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position and the financial performance of
the company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including
the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies
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(Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended). This responsibility also includes the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the Assets of the
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial control, that
were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records,
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view and are free from material misstatement, whether, due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Financial Statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the audit of Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SA’s will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
ii. Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act,
we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating
effectiveness of such controls.
iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Financial
Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
v. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
II.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. This report does not include a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government
of India, in terms of section 143(11) of the Companies Act, 2013, since in our opinion and
according to the information and explanation given to us, the said Order is not applicable to
the company.
2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:
a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.
b) In our opinion, proper books of accounts as required by law have been kept by the
Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books.
c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Income & Expenditure and the Cash Flow Statement
dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of accounts of the
company.
d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards
specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules
2014 (as amended).
e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31st March,
2021 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
31st March, 2021 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.
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f) With respect to the adequacy of the Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial
statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to
our separate Report in “Annexure A”. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the
adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial controls with
reference to financial statements.
g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule-11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion
and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:
(i)

The company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial
position.

(ii)

The company did not have any long-term contract including derivative contracts; as
such the question of commenting on any foreseeable losses thereon does not arise.

(iii) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred, to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.
h) Directions under section 143(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, applicable for the year 202021 and onwards:
S.

Particulars

Audit Observation

1

Whether the company has system in place to
process all the accounting transactions through
IT system? If yes, the implications of processing of
accounting transactions outside IT system on the
integrity of the accounts along with the financial
implications, if any, may be stated.

On the basis of explanations given to us and
on the basis of our verification we report that
the company has a system to process all the
accounting transactions through its IT system.
There are no such transactions outside the IT
system of the company.

2

Whether there is any restructuring of an existing
loan or cases of waiver/write off of debts /loans/
interest etc. made by a lender to the company
due to the company’s inability to repay the
loan? If yes, the financial impact may be stated.
Whether such cases are properly accounted for?
(in case, lender is a Government company, then
its direction is also applicable for statutory auditor
of lender company).

On the basis of explanations given to us and on
the basis of our verification we report that the
company has not taken any loan during the year
under review hence there is no question of waiver
/ write off of debts / loans / interest by any lender.

3

Whether funds (grants/subsidy etc.) received/
receivable for specific schemes from Central/
State Government or its agencies were properly
accounted for/ utilized as per its term and
conditions? List the cases of deviation

On the basis of explanations given to us and on the
basis of our verification we report that the funds
received by the company have been properly
accounted for as per their terms and conditions.

For Ramesh Sunil & Associates Chartered Accountants

Date: 04/06/2021
Place: Mumbai

Sd/CA Sunil R. Shetty (Partner)
Membership No.: 047559
Firm Reg No.: 114473W
UDIN:20047559AAAAAH7624
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14. Annexure ‘A’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report
Referred to in paragraph 2 (f) of Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements of the
Independent Auditors’ Report of even date.
Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of NABFOUNDATION
(“the Company”), as of 31st March, 2021 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on “the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India”. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient
conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the
accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under
the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over
financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and
the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of
the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance
Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting
was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of
the internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our
audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that material weakness exists,
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial
reporting.
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
A Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including
the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the
internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Opinion
In our opinion, the Company have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were
commensurate with the nature of the business of the Company and operating effectively as at
31st March, 2021, based on “the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India”.
For Ramesh Sunil & Associates Chartered Accountants

Date: 04/06/2021
Place: Mumbai

Sd/CA Sunil R. Shetty (Partner)
Membership No.: 047559
Firm Reg No.: 114473W
UDIN:20047559AAAAAH7624
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15. Balance Sheet
NABFOUNDATION BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31st March 2021
Particulars

Notes Amount (Rs)

Amount (Rs)

2020-21
I

2019-20

EQUITY & LIABILITIES
1. Shareholders funds
a) Share capital

2

50,000,000

10,000,000

b) Reserves & Surplus

3

51,599,312

49,511,139

4

5,414,242

26,456

107,013,554

59,537,595

164,223

-

-

-

2. Current Liabilities
h) Other current Liabilities
Total
II

ASSETS
1. Non Current Assets
a) Fixed Assets
i) Tangible

5

ii) Intangible
2. Current Assets
a) Cash & Cash Equivalent

6

106,532,279

59,522,825

b) Other Current Assets

7

317,052

14,770

107,013,554

59,537,595

-

-

Total
Significant Accounting Policies

1

Notes to Accounts

12

See Accompanying Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED
For Ramesh Sunil & Associates Chartered
Accountants
Firm Regn. No. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF
NABFOUNDATION

Sd/(Director)
Sd/CA Ramesh B Shetty
PARTNER
M. NO. 045746
PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 04/06/2021
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Sd/(Chief Executive Officer)

Sd/(Chairman)

16. Income and Expenditure Statement
NABFOUNDATION STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2021
Particulars
I
1

Notes

Amount (Rs)

Amount (Rs)

2020-21

2019-20

I NCOME
Grant Received for Projects

8

19,403,454

-

Other Income

9

4,002,681

239,088

23,406,135

239,088

17,817,205

-

1,320,052

-

-

-

23,259

-

2,157,446

727,949

21,317,962

727,949

2,088,173

(488,861)

- Basic

0.42

-

- Diluted

0.42

-

10

10

2

Total Revenue

3

E XPENDITURE
Project Expenses

10

Employee benefit expense
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortization expense
Other expenses

4

11

Surplus (Deficit) for the period from continuing
operations (2 - 3)
Earnings per Equity Share

5

- Face value per Equity Share
Significant Accounting Policies

1

Notes to Accounts

12

See Accompanying Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED
For Ramesh Sunil & Associates Chartered
Accountants
Firm Regn. No. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF
NABFOUNDATION

Sd/(Director)
Sd/CA Ramesh B Shetty
PARTNER
M. NO. 045746

Sd/(Chief Executive Officer)

Sd/(Chairman)

PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 04/06/2021
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17. Cash Flow Statement
NABFOUNDATION CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2021
INDIRECT METHOD
Particulars

Year ended

Year ended

31.03.2021

31.03.2020

Cash flows from used in operating activities
Surplus/(deficit) extraordinary items and tax

2,088,173

(488,861)

23,259

-

4,002,681

239,088

(3,979,422)

(239,088)

Adjustments for decrease (increase) in inventories

-

-

Adjustments for decrease (increase) in trade receivables

-

-

(302,282)

(14,770)

-

-

5,387,786

26,456

Total adjustments for working capital

5,085,504

11,686

Total adjustments for reconcile profit (loss)

1,106,082

(227,402)

Net cash flows from (used in) operations

3,194,255

(716,263)

Dividend received

-

-

Interest paid

-

-

4,002,681

239,088

-

-

Adjustments for reconcile profit (loss)
Adjustments to profit (loss)
Adjustments for depreciation and amortisation expenses
Adjustments for interest income
Total Adjustments for reconcile profit (loss)
Adjustments for working capital

Adjustments for decrease (increase) in other current assets
Adjustments for Increase (decrease) in other trade payables
Adjustments for Iincrease (decerease) in other current liabilities
Adjustments for provisions

Interest received
Income taxes (paid) refund
Other inflows (outflows) of cash

-

-

7,196,936

(477,175)

Proceeds from extraordinary items

-

-

Payments for extraordinary items

-

-

7,196,936

(477,175)

-

-

187,482

-

-

-

(187,482)

-

Cash flows from used in financing activities

-

-

Interest paid

-

-

40,000,000

10,000,000

Receipt of Development Corpus Fund (DCF)

-

50,000,000

Other inflows (outflows) of cash

-

-

Net cash flows from (used in) in operating activities before extraordinary
items

Net cash flows from (used in) in operating activities
Proceeds from sale of tangible assets
Purchase of tangible assets
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets
Net cash flow from (used in) investing activities

Issue of Equity Shares
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Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities before extraordinary items

40,000,000

60,000,000

Proceeds from extraordinary items

-

-

Paymens for extraordinary items

-

-

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities

40,000,000

60,000,000

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

-

-

Effects of exchange rate changes or cash and cash equivalents

-

-

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

47,009,454

59,522,825

Cash and cash equivalents cash flow statement at beginning of period

59,522,825

-

106,532,279

59,522,825

Cash and cash equivalents cash flow statement at end of period
See Accompanying Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements

See Accompanying Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED
FOR RAMESH SUNIL & ASSOCIATES
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF
NABFOUNDATION

Sd/(Director)
Sd/CA Ramesh B Shetty
PARTNER
M. NO. 045746

Sd/(Chief Executive Officer)

Sd/(Chairman)

PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 04.06.2021
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18. Notes forming part of the Financial Statements
NABFOUNDATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31ST MARCH, 2021
NOTE 1: - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
I. CORPORATE INFORMATION
NABFOUNDATION (“the Company”), a not for profit company, within the meaning of Section 8
of the Companies Act, 2013, was incorporated in India on August 31st, 2019.
NABFOUNDATION is an attempt to initiate, execute, implement activities directed towards
enhancing the quality of life of poor and needy sections of society without reference to race,
religion, creed, caste or sex and to seek ways and means of reducing and ultimately eradicating
malnutrition, extreme poverty and improving their health and physical and mental condition and
well-being and pursue all such aspects thereof that would be help in achieving the said objective
in a sustainable and scalable way.
NABFOUNDATION has been envisioned to network with state governments, universities, agristartups, knowledge hubs and NGO’s etc. to promote undertake, activities that would support,
encourage and promote education among the masses including the underprivileged, and provide
them with quality learning and remove illiteracy, by the way of developing, acquiring, maintaining
or supporting school, colleges, study center, to improving the system of education in the country,
imparting traditional or new learning skills in formal and non-formal institution.
ii. Basis of preparation of statement
The financial statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in India (Indian GAAP). The company has prepared these financial
statements to comply in all material respects with the Accounting Standards notified under the
relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2013.
The Company follows the mercantile system of accounting and Expenses and Income are
recognized on accrual basis. Accounting policies not referred to otherwise are consistent with
generally accepted accounting principles.
iii. Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of the assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities on the date of financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual result may differ from those estimates. Changes in
estimates are reflected in the financial statements in the period in which changes are made and, if
material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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iv. Revenue recognition
General/ Project Donation/Grants:
As per the terms of agreement with Donor agencies, Unrestricted Grants received by the foundation
for the current projects are recognized as Income in the accounting year of receipts.
Restricted Grants and donation received and spent are recognize as income in the accounts,
whereas the said unutilized grant is shown as Current Liability in the books.
Interest/Other Income:
Interest and Other Income are also recognized on accrual basis.
Corpus Donation:
Donations received for Corpus Funds with a specific written direction from Donors are directly taken
in Corpus Funds of the Foundation.
v. Employee benefits
All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of rendering the services are
classified as short- term employee benefits. Benefits such as salaries, wages, performance incentives,
etc. are recognized in the Income and Expenditure Account in the period in which the employee
renders related service and measured accordingly.
vi. Fixed assets and depreciation /amortization
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
The cost of fixed assets includes inward freight, duties, taxes and incidental expenses related to
acquisition and installation incurred upto date of commissioning of the assets. Assets held for disposal
are stated at their estimated residual values as at the balance sheet date.
Depreciation is provided on pro-rata basis as per Straight Line Method (SLM) as per the useful life
in Part ‘C’ of the Schedule II of the Act.
vii. Impairment of assets
In accordance with Accounting Standard 28 (AS 28) on ‘Impairment of assets’, the carrying
amounts of Foundation’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is any impairment. The recoverable amount of the asset is estimated at the higher of its
useful life. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.
viii. Cash flow statement
Cash flows are reported using indirect method whereby cash flows from operating activities of
the Company are identified and reported.
ix. Provisions and contingencies
A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past events
and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation in respect of
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which a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions are not discounted to their present value and
determined based on the best estimate required to settle the obligation as at Balance Sheet date.
x. Income tax
The Company has license to operate under section 8 of the Companies Act and Certificate
of registration under section 12A and 80 G of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Accordingly, the Company
is not liable to pay Income Tax under Income Tax Act, 1961 (Subject to condition specified under
section 11 of the Income Tax Act 1961).
NABFOUNDATION
NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31ST MARCH 2021
(Amount - Rs)
NOTE 2 - SHARE CAPITAL

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

Authorised Capital
5000000, Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each

50,000,000

50,000,000

5000000, Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each fully paid

50,000,000

10,000,000

Total issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital

50,000,000

10,000,000

Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up shares

(a) Terms/ rights attached to equity shares
The company has only one class of equity shares having par value of Rs.10 per share. Each holder of equity
shares is entitled to one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. No
dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors during the year.
(b) Reconciliation of the number of shares and amount outstanding as at the beginning and at the end of
the year.
PARTICULARS
No. of shares at the beginning of the year

AS AT
31.03.2021

AS AT
31.03.2020

1,000,000

-

Fresh Issue

-

1,000,000

Right Issue

4,000,000

-

No. of shares at the end of the year

5,000,000

1,000,000

(c) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company
NAME OF SHAREHOLDER

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

NABARD
(Through its Nominees)
Total Share
% of Holding
Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid
No. of shares at the end of the year

5,000,000

1,000,000

100.00%

100.00%

50,000,000

10,000,000

5,000,000

1,000,000

As per records of the company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations
received from shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and
beneficial ownerships of shares.

128

NOTE 3 - RESERVES & SURPLUS

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

Surplus/ Deficit in Income & Expenditure statement
As per last balance sheet

(488,861)

-

Surplus (Deficit) for the year

2,088,173

(488,861)

Closing Balance (I)

1,599,312

(488,861)

Capital Reserve
Development Corpus Fund (DCF) As per last balance sheet

50,000,000

Amount received during the year
Closing Balance (II)
TOTAL (I+II)
NOTE 4 - CURRENT LIABILITIES

-

50,000,000

50,000,000

50,000,000

51,599,312

49,511,139

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

Restricted - Unutilised Grant

5,396,339

-

17,700

17,700

203

8,756

5,414,242

26,456

Audit Fees Payable
Other Payable
TOTAL
PARTICULARS

GROSS BLOCK

DEPRECIATION/AMORTISATION

NET BLOCK

AS AT
01.04.20
(Rs.)

Additions
(Rs.)

AS AT
31.03.21
(Rs.)

AS AT
01.04.20
(Rs.)

FOR THE
YEAR
(Rs.)

Adjustments
to
Reserves

AS AT
31.03.21
(Rs.)

AS AT
31.03.21
(Rs.)

AS AT
31.03.20
(Rs.)

Office Equipments

-

62,797

62,797

-

4,393

-

4,393

58,404

-

Computers and

-

124,685

124,685

-

18,867

-

18,867

105,818

-

TOTAL :- 1

-

187,482

187,482

-

23,259

-

23,259

164,223

-

Grand Total As On
31.03.2021

-

187,482

187,482

-

23,259

-

23,259

164,223

-

Grand Total As On
31.03.2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

Tangible Assets

Equipments
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NABFOUNDATION
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the Year ending 31st March 2021
NOTE 6 - CASH & CASH EQVIVALENTS

31st Mar 2021

31st Mar 2020

Cash In Hand
Bank Balances
Current and Savings Account Balances
Term Deposit
Add- Interest Accrued

7,948,654
98,000,000
583,625

TOTAL

293,957
59,000,000

98,583,625

228,868

106,532,279

NOTE 7 - CURRENT ASSETS

59,228,868
59,522,825

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

Other Receivable

-

4,550

TDS Receivable

317,052

10,220

TOTAL

317,052

14,770

NOTE 8 - GRANT RECEIVED FOR PROJECT
Project - My Pad My Right (MPMR)

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020
12,425,954

-

Project - Farm Based Livelihood Education and Learning School

4,200,000

-

Project - NER Entrepreneur’s World (NEW)

2,777,500

-

19,403,454

-

TOTAL
NOTE 9 - OTHER INCOME

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

Interest Earned

4,002,681

239,088

TOTAL

4,002,681

239,088

NABFOUNDATION
Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the Year ending 31st March 2021
NOTE 10 - PROJECT EXPENSES
Project - Aapno Paani

55,549

-

Project - E-NFRC

40,472

-

Project - Farm Based Livelihood Education and Learning School
Project - My Pad My Right
Project -NER Entrepreneur’s World (NEW)
Project - Meghalaya hills broom farmers producers organization (OFPO)
TOTAL
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31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020

3,906,000

-

13,472,586

-

40,475

-

302,123

-

17,817,205

-

NOTE 11- OTHER EXPENSES
Advertisement & Sponsorship
Audit Fees
Bank Charges
Books & Periodicals
Director Remuneration
IT Expenses
Office Expense
Postage and Courier
Pre-operative Expense
Printing & Stationery
Professional Fees
Roc Filing Fees
Interest and Late Filing Fees
Telephone Expenses
Travelling Expenses
Website Development Charges
TOTAL

31st Mar 2021 31st Mar 2020
48,000

25,200

17,700

17,700

1,239

266

-

2,400

40,000

-

-

3,583

242,857

1,474

86,500

73,610

-

579,581

290,854

2,929

801,320

14,500

16,500

2,900

386

3,806

2,498

-

14,872

-

594,720

-

2,157,446

727,949

NABFOUNDATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31ST MARCH, 2021
NOTE 12 :- NOTES ON ACCOUNT
i. In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the Current Assets, Loans & Advances are approximately of
the value of stated as realizable on the ordinary course of business and the provision of all known
liabilities are adequate.
ii. Disclosure under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED ACT, 2006)
As required to be disclosed under Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 and to
the extent such parties are identified on the basis of information available with the Company, there
are no Micro enterprises or Small Scale enterprises to whom the Company owes any due which are
outstanding for more than 45 days as at 31st March 2021
iii. Auditors remuneration is Rs. 15,000/- for Statutory Audit. (Excl. GST)
iv. Previous year’s figures have been rearranged and regrouped wherever considered necessary.
v. Related Party Transactions
In the Normal course of operation, the foundation enters into transaction with key management
personnel. The names of related parties of the foundation and their relationship, as required to be
disclosed under Accounting Standard 18, are as follows:
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Particulars
Directors Remuneration
Shri Jitender Kalra (Director)

For the Year Ended 31
March, 2021

For the Year Ended 31
March, 2020

40,000/-

Nil

See Accompanying Notes Forming Part of the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED
For Ramesh Sunil & Associates Chartered
Accountants
Firm Regn. No. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF
NABFOUNDATION

Sd/(Director)
Sd/CA Ramesh B Shetty
PARTNER
M. NO. 045746
PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 04/06/2021
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Sd/(Chief Executive Officer)

Sd/(Chairman)

19. Proxy Form
ATTENDANCE SLIP
SECOND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
DP ID*/ Client ID*:

Name and address of the
registered shareholder

Regd. Folio No.:
No. of shared held:

(*applicable for members holding share(s) in electronic form)
I/We hereby record my/our presence at the 2nd Annual General Meeting of the Members
of NABFOUNDATION held on Tuesday, 14th September 2021 at 11:30 am at Plot No. C-24, G
Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra East, Mumbai, 400051.

Signature of
shareholder(s)/Proxy
Note:
Please fill this attendance slip and hand it over at the entrance of the hall.
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A Section 8 Not for Profit Company established by NABARD
NABARD, 2 nd Floor, B wing, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Bandra (East), Mumbai 40 0 051
T: +91 22 2653 9054
Email: nabfoundation@nabard.org
Website: w w w.nabfoundation.in

